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Responsible Body’s Declaration

In accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994 
and the Victorian Inspectorate Act 2011, I am pleased to 
present the Victorian Inspectorate’s Annual Report for the 
year ending 30 June 2018.

Eamonn Moran PSM QC
Inspector

10 September 2018
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My appointment as Inspector under 
the Victorian Inspectorate Act 2011 
took effect on 1 January 2018, half 
way through the period covered 
by this Report. On announcing my 
appointment, the Special Minister of 
State Gavin Jennings MLC thanked my 
predecessor Mr Robin Brett QC for 
the leadership he brought to the role 
of Inspector. I echo that sentiment. I 
thank also Neal Jebwab for the role 
he played as Chief Operations Officer 
from the inception of the Victorian 
Inspectorate (VI) until June 2018. 

The broad range of functions 
conferred on the VI makes its work 
varied but demanding. No other 
Australian jurisdiction has an oversight 
body with the same broad range of 
integrity functions. Those functions 
were broadened further in the course 
of the year. On 1 July 2017 the VI 
acquired functions in relation to the 
Judicial Commission of Victoria and 
the Public Interest Monitor (PIM). 
On 1 September 2017 functions in 
relation to the Office of the Victorian 
Information Commissioner (OVIC) 
were added.

In my first 6 months in the role of 
Inspector I have had two immediate 

aims:  (1) review the structure and 
operations of the VI to improve its 
capacity to perform as Parliament 
intends; (2) raise the public profile of 
the VI so that members of the public 
know of its existence and of how it can 
help them and by that means increase 
their trust in Victoria’s integrity system.

I attach great importance to the 
need for public trust in the Victorian 
integrity system. My vision of the VI is 
that of an active and respected body 
within the Victorian integrity system 
widely recognised as performing a 
valuable function in ensuring that 
entities within that system exercise 
their powers appropriately and 
responsibly and in the public interest. 
Just as a State integrity body may 
need to bring to public attention a 
failing in aspects of the work of a 
Department or other agency overseen 
by that body, so too the VI must be 
prepared to do that when it comes 
across a failing in a State integrity 
body. In my opinion, this does not 
diminish public trust in the integrity 
system. On the contrary, it increases 
public trust because the public can 
be satisfied that there is an effective 
oversight body that monitors the 
activities of State integrity bodies, 
investigates their conduct as required 
and deals appropriately with 
complaints made against them. 

To play an active role in a complex and 
varied landscape requires capacity. 
As part of capacity building during 
the course of the year a new role of 
Manager, Corporate Services was 
created and several new solicitors 

and policy officers were appointed to 
assist in operational areas, including 
investigations. Further organisational 
change is anticipated in 2018–19 as 
a formal organisational restructure 
process was commenced on 27 
June 2018. Work is under way to 
review and revise the VI’s internal 
policies, procedures and systems 
with a particular focus on records 
management and the updating of 
information and communications 
technology (ICT) systems. Work was 
done during the year on the VI’s 
website to improve its value as a 
public resource and its accessibility. 
With improved internal operational 
arrangements, greater visibility and 
enhanced resourcing the VI will be 
well placed to be more proactive and 
visible within the Victorian integrity 
system.

I look forward to 2018–19 as a year of 
solid achievement by the VI against 
defined targets with an enhanced 
operational capability and greater 
public awareness.

Eamonn Moran PSM QC
Inspector

Message from the Inspector



SECTION 1: Year in Review

2017–2018 
HIGHLIGHTS
Throughout the 
2017–18 period the 
Victorian Inspectorate 
(VI) has gone through 
major structural and 
administrative changes.

NEW LEGISLATION AFFECTING 
THE VICTORIAN INSPECTORATE
On 1 July 2017 the Judicial 
Commission of Victoria commenced 
operations. 

The VI has the function to monitor the 
Judicial Commission of Victoria’s use 
of coercive powers under the Judicial 
Commission of Victoria Act 2016, and 
may make recommendations to it as 
to guidelines in relation to the use of 
those powers.

On 1 September 2017, the Office 
of the Victorian Information 
Commissioner (OVIC) commenced 
operations.

The VI is responsible for monitoring 
OVIC’s exercise of coercive powers 
and compliance with procedural 
fairness requirements. The VI may 
also receive, assess and investigate 
complaints about the conduct of OVIC 
officers in relation to the exercise of 
coercive powers or compliance with 
procedural fairness requirements. 
In addition, the VI may investigate 
matters on its own motion, and report 
on, and make recommendations 
about, the performance by the OVIC 
of its functions.

On 1 October 2018 the VI will have 
new functions conferred on it by the 
Justice Legislation Amendment 
(Terrorism) Act 2018. That Act will 
amend the Terrorism (Community 
Protection) Act 2003 to provide that 
the VI must oversee the use of covert 
search warrant powers, the making 
and carrying out of police detention 
decisions and the use of special 

police powers. Other functional 
changes, together with a move to 
greater budgetary independence, will 
come about should Parliament pass 
the Integrity and Accountability 
Legislation Amendment (Public 
Interest Disclosures, Oversight and 
Independence) Bill 2018 that was 
before it at the end of the reporting 
period.

NEW INSPECTOR’S APPOINTMENT 
On 15 November 2017, the Special 
Minister of State Gavin Jennings 
announced the appointment of Mr 
Eamonn Moran PSM QC to lead the 
VI. Mr Moran was appointed by the 
Governor-in-Council for a term of five 
years which started on 1 January 2018.

INQUIRY INTO THE EXTERNAL 
OVERSIGHT OF POLICE 
CORRUPTION AND MISCONDUCT 
IN VICTORIA
On 5 February 2018 the Inspector 
attended a closed hearing as part 
of the Independent Broad-based 
Anti-corruption Commission (IBAC) 
Committee’s Inquiry into the external 
oversight of police corruption and 
misconduct. 

The Inspector provided information 
about the VI and responded to 
questions in relation to complaints 
and disclosures about IBAC, VI’s 
assessment of IBAC’s performance, 
issues arising from the VI’s assessment 
and other matters. 

A full copy of the hearing transcript is 
available at the Parliament of Victoria’s 
website: https://www.parliament.vic.
gov.au/images/stories/committees/
IBACC/Transcripts/police_oversight_
transcripts/IBACC_5_February_2018_
External_oversight_of_police_VI_
closed.pdf

NEW WEBSITE
On 16 March 2018, with the assistance 
of the Department of Premier and 
Cabinet, the VI revamped its website 
and made it  much more informative. 
Further improvements are planned 
and the VI is considering  additional 
means of getting its message out to 
the general public.

PARLIAMENT HOUSE OPEN DAY
On March 18 2018, the VI participated 
in the Parliament House Open Day. 
 VI officers, including the Inspector, 
spoke with over 200 members of the 
public about the VI’s functions and 
powers. This was the first time that the 
VI participated in the Parliament House 
Open Day program. With the Inspector 
being an officer of the Parliament, it is 
appropriate for the VI to participate. It 
is also a good opportunity to bring the 
VI to public attention.

LAW WEEK 
As part of the Law Week program, 
the Inspector presented a session 
about the VI, its functions and powers 
on 14 May 2018 and a session about 
procedural fairness on 16 May 
2018. Both members of the public 
and Victorian Public Sector had 
the opportunity to ask questions 
directly to the Inspector during his 
presentation at the Law Week hub 
located at Federation Square.

The session presented on 14 May 
2018 was also streamed live on 
Facebook, the video is available 
at: https://www.facebook.com/
everydaylaw/videos/vb.1134071
42024401/1922700991094998/                                                            
?type=2&theater  
To date it received more than 220 
views.

IPAA VICTORIA - INTEGRITY AND 
ETHICAL LEADERSHIP PROGRAM
The Integrity and Ethical Leadership 
Program is an initiative of IPAA 
Victoria.

On 23 May 2018, the Inspector 
was invited to deliver a talk at the 
Executive Program Pilot dinner to 
Victorian government heads and 
executives. In summary, the Inspector 
provided an overview of the role 
of the VI and its activities since his 
appointment. He stated that the 
integrity element of the Program links 
well to the role of the VI and  provided 
his support for the Program as well as 
congratulating all participants. 
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VGSO MONTHLY SEMINAR SERIES 
On 26 June 2018, the Inspector joined 
the Victorian Government Solicitor’s 
Office (VGSO) as guest speaker for its 
continuing professional development 
Monthly Seminar Series. Before  200 
members of the Victorian Public 

Sector, the Inspector talked about 
the VI, its functions and powers, the 
agencies it oversees, and his vision 
for the VI. Because of the popularity 
of this event, VGSO also streamed it 
live to members of the Victorian Public 
Sector. 

If you are a member of the Victorian 
Public Sector, you can request access 
to this webinar by contacting the 
VGSO marketing team on  
marketing.team@vgso.vic.gov.au

 The Inspector was a guest speaker for the VGSO Seminar

 Parliament House Open Day

 Law Week



The Victorian Inspectorate (VI) is 
the key oversight body in Victoria’s 
integrity system. It is an independent 
body, not subject to direction or 
control by the executive government.

The VI was established by the Victorian 
Inspectorate Act 2011 (VI Act) to 
provide oversight of other integrity, 
accountability or investigatory bodies 
and their officers. 

The main role of the VI is to ensure 
that the agencies it oversees use their 
powers, and exercise their functions, 
lawfully and properly. 

The VI is required to monitor the use 
of coercive powers (such as powers to 
summons and examine witnesses) by 
each body it oversees and has power 
to receive and investigate certain 
complaints made to it about:

•  The Independent Broad-based 
Anti-corruption Commission (IBAC) 
and its personnel

•  Victorian Ombudsman (VO) officers
•  Chief Examiner and Examiners

About the Victorian Inspectorate, 
manner of establishment and relevant Ministers

•  Office of the Victorian Information 
Commissioner (OVIC) officers

•  Victorian Auditor-General’s Office 
(VAGO) officers

Additionally, the VI is required to 
inspect and audit relevant records 
kept by the Public Interest Monitor 
(PIM) and report to the Minister and 
the Parliament on that inspection and 
audit.

The VI also has a regulatory 
compliance role, promoting the public 
interest by ensuring that agencies that 
are able to exercise covert powers 
(intercepting telephone conversations, 
placing surveillance devices and 
conducting controlled operations) 
adhere to their statutory record-
keeping and other obligations. VI 
officers physically inspect and assess 
records and documents relating to the 
use of covert powers.

ACCOUNTABILITY
The Accountability and Oversight 
Committee of the Parliament (AOC) 
reviews the performance of the duties 
and functions of the VI and examines 

any reports made by the VI, in relation 
to Victorian Ombudsman officers or 
the Judicial Commission.

The Public Accounts and Estimates 
Committee of the Parliament (PAEC) 
reviews the performance of the duties 
and functions of the VI, and examines 
any reports made by the VI, in relation 
to VAGO Officers. 

The Independent Broad-based Anti-
corruption Commission Committee 
of the Parliament (IBAC Committee) 
monitors and reviews the performance 
of the other duties and functions of 
the VI.

To ensure the independence of the 
VI and the Inspector, it is legally 
impermissible for any of the above 
parliamentary committees to 
investigate or review any decision, 
finding or recommendation made by 
the VI in the discharge or exercise of 
its functions and powers.
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The vision of the VI is, through 
effective oversight, to strengthen 
public trust in the integrity, 
accountability and investigatory 
bodies that constitute the Victorian 
integrity system.

The VI’s purpose is to assist the 
Parliament, and in particular the IBAC 
Committee, the AOC, and the 
PAEC, to oversee the principal 
integrity agencies in Victoria.

The VI’s values are: 
   Integrity: We are honest, fair, 

independent and transparent in 
achieving our purpose. 

   Impartiality: We make decisions 
and provide advice on merit and 
without bias, caprice, favouritism 
or self-interest, acting fairly by 

objectively considering all relevant 
facts and applying proper criteria.

   Accountability: We work to 
clear objectives in a transparent 
manner, accepting responsibility for 
decisions and actions, seeking to 
achieve best use of resources. 

   Professionalism: We strive 
towards excellence in our work and 
we support each other to improve 
continuously. 

   Commitment: We utilise 
our skills and expertise to work 
hard together to achieve our 
purpose and we demonstrate that 
commitment in our engagement 
with other integrity agencies and 
the community we serve. 

 

  Respect: We encourage each 
other’s skills and contributions 
and actively promote a culture 
of accepting difference and 
working cooperatively. We also 
strive to promote co-operation in 
our relations with other integrity 
agencies.

Vision, purpose, values



The functions of the VI differ in respect of each of the 
integrity bodies that it oversees.

With respect to IBAC, the VI:
 •  monitors its compliance with the Independent Broad-

based Anti-Corruption Commission Act 2011 (IBAC Act) 
and other laws;

 •  oversees its performance of its functions under the 
Protected Disclosure Act 2012 (PD Act);

 •  assesses the effectiveness and appropriateness of its 
policies and procedures which relate to the legality and 
propriety of IBAC’s activities;

 •  receives, assesses and may investigate certain complaints 
about the conduct of IBAC or IBAC personnel; and

 •  monitors IBAC’s interaction with other integrity bodies to 
ensure compliance with relevant laws.

The VI may make recommendations to IBAC and may 
make reports to the Parliament; the VI may also make 
recommendations to the Chief Commissioner of Police, the 
Director of Public Prosecutions and certain other bodies 
about further investigatory or enforcement action.

The VI may also investigate aspects of IBAC’s activities on 
its own motion in carrying out its oversight functions.

The VI oversees the performance by IBAC of its functions 
under the PD Act and also has a function under the PD 
Act to receive disclosures about IBAC and its officers 
and determine whether those disclosures are protected 
disclosure complaints. The VI also has a function under 
the PD Act to review the procedures established by IBAC 
under Part 9 of the PD Act and the implementation of those 
procedures.

The VI inspects and audits certain records kept by the PIM 
under the Public Interest Monitor Act 2011 and the 
Witness Protection Act 1991 for the purpose of monitoring 
compliance with requirements prescribed by law and to 
report to the Minister and the Parliament on the result of the 
inspection and audit.

Objectives, functions, powers and duties

The VI receives, assesses and may investigate complaints 
about the conduct of the Chief Examiner or any Examiner 
in relation to exercise of coercive powers or their 
compliance with the Major Crime (Investigative Powers) Act 
2004 (MCIP Act). The VI, may also investigate those matters 
on its own motion.

Disclosures may be made to the VI about the Chief 
Examiner or an Examiner under the PD Act. If the VI 
considers that such a disclosure might qualify as a protected 
disclosure, it must notify it to IBAC which then assesses 
whether it is a protected disclosure complaint.

The VI may also make recommendations to the Chief 
Commissioner of Police, the Director of Public Prosecutions 
and certain other bodies about further investigatory or 
enforcement action.
 
The VI monitors the compliance of the Chief Examiner and 
Examiners with the MCIP Act, assesses the relevance of any 
requirement to produce documents or other things and of 
any questions asked in a coercive examination, assesses 
the effectiveness and appropriateness of policies and 
procedures of the Chief Examiner relating to the legality 
and propriety of the Chief Examiner’s activities, and may 
make reports and recommendations accordingly.

The VI also monitors the compliance of the Chief 
Commissioner of Police and other members of the police 
force with their obligations under the MCIP Act.

The VI monitors the exercise of coercive powers by VAGO 
officers and their compliance with certain specific sections 
of the Audit Act 1994.

The VI may also receive, assess and investigate certain 
complaints about the conduct of a VAGO officer and may 
report on, and make recommendations as a result of, the 
performance of its functions. 

The VI may also on its own motion in the course of 
performing its functions investigate the conduct of a VAGO 
officer in respect of the exercise or purported exercise 
of coercive powers in relation to any matter or their 
compliance with certain specific sections of the Audit Act 
1994.
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The VI may also make recommendations to the Chief 
Commissioner of Police, the Director of Public Prosecutions 
and certain other bodies about further investigatory or 
enforcement action.

Disclosures may be made to the VI about VAGO officers 
under the PD Act. If the VI considers that such a disclosure 
might qualify as a protected disclosure, it must notify it 
to IBAC which then assesses whether it is a protected 
disclosure complaint.

The VI monitors the Victorian Ombudsman’s exercise of 
coercive powers and its compliance with procedural fairness 
requirements.

The VI receives, assesses and may investigate complaints 
about VO officers in relation to the exercise of coercive 
powers and compliance with procedural fairness. The VI 
may also investigate matters on its own motion.

The VI may make recommendations and reports about the 
Ombudsman, and may make recommendations to the Chief 
Commissioner of Police, the Director of Public Prosecutions 
and certain other bodies about further investigatory or 
enforcement action.

Disclosures may also be made to the VI about VO officers 
under the PD Act, and if the VI considers that such a 
disclosure might qualify as a protected disclosure, it 
must notify it to IBAC which then assesses whether it is a 
protected disclosure complaint.

In addition the VI has a function under the PD Act to review 
the procedures established by the Ombudsman under 
Part 9 of the PD Act and the implementation of those 
procedures.

In relation to the OVIC, the VI is responsible for monitoring 
its exercise of coercive powers and its compliance with 
procedural fairness requirements.

The VI may also receive, assess and investigate complaints 
about the conduct of OVIC officers in respect to the 
exercise of coercive powers or compliance with procedural 
fairness requirements.

In addition, the VI may investigate matters on its own 
motion, and report on, and make recommendations about 
the performance by the OVIC of its functions. The VI may 
also make recommendations to the Chief Commissioner of 

Police, the Director of Public Prosecutions and certain other 
bodies about further investigatory or enforcement action.

The VI has the function to monitor the Judicial Commission 
of Victoria’s use of coercive powers under the Judicial 
Commission of Victoria Act 2016, and may make 
recommendations to it as to guidelines in relation to the use 
of those powers.

Disclosures may be made to the VI about an officer of the 
Judicial Commission under the PD Act (other than a Judicial 
member of the Board of the Judicial Commission), and if 
the VI considers that such a disclosure might qualify as a 
protected disclosure, it must notify it to IBAC which then 
assesses whether it is a protected disclosure complaint.

In addition to this, the VI has an obligation under the 
PD Act to review the procedures established by the 
Judicial Commission under Part 9 of the PD Act and the 
implementation of those procedures.

COMPLIANCE WITH CERTAIN REGULATORY 
REQUIREMENTS
The VI also monitors key agencies for compliance with 
certain regulatory requirements in relation to the use of 
covert powers such as telecommunication interception, 
surveillance devices or controlled operations. The VI 
monitors the following agencies for this same purpose:

 • Victoria Police
 • IBAC
 •  the Game Management Authority (GMA)
 •  the Victorian Fisheries Authority (VFA)
 •  the Department of Environment, Land, Water, and 

Planning (DELWP)
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Education, training and communications initiatives

On 29 November 2017, the 
Accountability and Oversight 
Committee of the Parliament (AOC) 
tabled a report in relation to its 
Inquiry into Education, Training and 
Communications Initiatives of Victorian 
Oversight Agencies.

Four recommendations were made 
concerning the VI:

   That the VI reviews the education 
and training information available 
on its website and include a 
series of case notes providing 
generic guidance on matters 
of frequent complaints such 
as compliance with procedural 
fairness and the exercise of 
coercive powers.

   That the VI further develops 
its lecture program and deliver 
presentations focused on 
procedural guidance to both 
the Victorian public and the 
government sector.

   That the VI publishes ‘plain 
English’ information on 
its website that clarifies 
its functions in relation to 
complaints, including guidance 
on compliance with procedural 
fairness and the exercise of 
coercive powers.

   That the VO, OVIC and VI 
further invest in the provision of 
e-learning training and free or 
cost-recovery workshops that 
provide targeted training to the 
wider public service, including 
local government, education and 
health bodies.

The VI recognises that a measure 
of its success, as the key oversight 
body in Victoria, is the level of 
public trust in the Victorian integrity 
system. By increasing public 
awareness of its existence through 
better communication channels and 
education, the VI hopes to increase 
that level of trust as more members of 
the public become aware that there is 

an oversight body with which they may 
raise concerns about the bodies within 
that system. 

Since January 2018, the VI has 
published new brochures about 
its operations including a revised 
complaint fact sheet and reviewed 
its complaints form and notes for 
complainants.

In March 2018, as part of the Victorian 
Government Single Digital Presence 
project, with the assistance of the 
Department of Premier and Cabinet, 
the VI launched its new interim 
website with an improved appearance 
and greater accessibility.

The VI’s interim website contains ‘plain 
English’ information about the VI’s 
functions and powers together with 
improved material on its purpose, 
vision and values. It also contains a 
list of bodies over which the VI has 
oversight, more information about 
complaints that can and cannot be 
investigated by the VI, protected 
disclosure complaints guidelines 
and Freedom of Information request 
procedures. 

As referred to in the 2017–18 
Highlights section of this report, the 
VI participated in the 2018 Parliament 
House Open Day and the Law 
Week program. The Inspector also 
delivered a talk at the IPAA Executive 
Program Pilot dinner of its Integrity 
and Ethical Leadership Program and 
joined the VGSO as guest speaker for 
the regulators session of its Monthly 
Seminar Series.

For 2018–19 and beyond the VI aims 
to have a more visible presence both 
to the public and integrity agencies. 
It will continue to improve the 
information on its website and provide 
education and training to members 
of the public and public sector. The 
VI is also considering other means to 
actively engage with the public sector 
and the public generally.
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Compliance with the Victorian Inspectorate Act 2011

COMPLAINTS AND ENQUIRIES 
RECEIVED IN 2017–18
An enquiry is a contact from a 
member of the public seeking 
information about the VI’s complaint 
processes or other information. An 
enquiry may or may not proceed to 
become a complaint. During this 
financial year, the VI recorded the 
receipt of 116 enquiries, only 23 of 
which proceeded to a complaint. 

A complaint is a matter where 
the VI has received a completed 
complaint form or other substantive 
information from a person who has 
made it clear that their intention is to 
make a complaint to the VI. During 
this financial year the VI received 77 
complaints.

The VI has power to receive and 
investigate certain complaints made to 
it about – 

       IBAC or IBAC personnel 
 

       Victorian Ombudsman (VO) 
officers

       Chief Examiner or Examiners  
 

  VAGO officers 

  OVIC officers

For more information refer to section 
43 of the VI Act.

In addition to complaints and 
enquiries received from members of 
the public, the VI received during the 
reporting period:

   4 notifications from the 
Ombudsman under section 
16F(2) of the Ombudsman 
Act 1973 (Ombudsman Act). 
This provision requires the 
Ombudsman to notify the VI of 
any complaint which appears to 
relate to the conduct of, among 
others, the IBAC, VAGO or a VO 
officer. One notification received 
by the VI concerned VAGO, one 
concerned a VO officer and two 
notifications concerned IBAC or 
IBAC personnel. 

   2 complaints about IBAC were 
notified during the reporting 
period by the IBAC itself under 
section 71 of the IBAC Act. 

During this financial year, IBAC did not 
refer any complaint to the VI under 
section 73 of the IBAC Act.

36
Complaints 
about 
IBAC or IBAC
personnel

45
Enquiries 
about 
IBAC or IBAC 
personnel

36
Complaints 
about VO 
officers

41
Enquiries 
about VO

4
Complaints 
about OVIC 
officers

3
Enquiries 
about OVIC

2
Enquiries 
about VAGO

1/21
Of the 77 complaints and 116 enquiries received by the VI during 2017–18:

The VI also received 4 requests for information in relation to VI’s functions. 
This is a 7% increase on the number of complaints and 32% increase on the number of enquiries compared with the 
previous financial year.

1 complaint and 21 enquiries 
were about matters not within 
the jurisdiction of the VI

ENQUIRIES COMPLAINTS

IBAC
39%

IBAC
47%

VO
35%

VO
47%

OVIC 3%

OVIC
5%

VAGO
2%

VAGO 0%

OTHER
21%

OTHER 1%
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HOW THE VI ASSESSES 
COMPLAINTS
Upon receipt of each complaint or 
enquiry the VI assesses it for three 
purposes:

1:  to consider whether it may be a 
protected disclosure;

2:  to determine whether the VI has 
jurisdiction to investigate it; and

3:  if 2 is satisfied, determine 
whether it warrants inquiry and/or 
investigation.

The assessment process requires the 
VI to gain a full understanding of the 
matters about which the complainant 
is complaining, and of the decision 
that has been made by the agency 
concerned, including the reasons for 
that decision.

It is frequently the case that the 
information initially provided with 
a complaint is not sufficient for this 
purpose. In such cases the VI usually 
seeks further information from the 
complainant. In many cases, the VI 
seeks further information from the 
agency complained about, including 
asking for a copy of its file on the 
matter.

In some cases, the complaint made is 
not credible on its face and does not 
warrant inquiry or investigation. The 
complainant may,  for example, allege 
serious criminal offences against an 
agency without  identifying the nature 
of the conduct alleged or the evidence 
in support of the allegation. In such 
cases, the VI informs the complainant 
that it will take no further action unless 
credible information is provided by the 
complainant. 

A matter may be considered within 
jurisdiction but does not merit 
investigation. There are many reasons 
for not investigating a complaint 
including the following factors: there 
is insufficient evidence in support 
of the complaint, the subject-matter 
of the complaint has already been 
fully investigated by another agency 
(including a court in some cases) 

Complaint received

Acknowledge receipt of complaint

Assess whether the complaint is within  
VI’s jurisdiction - s 43 of the Act 

Assess whether complaint merits investigation (credibility, evidentiary 
support, significance of alleged conduct, availability of other  
remedy, etc.)

– Seek further information from complainant 
– Seek further information from agency 
– Preliminary inquiries

Complaint  
is within 

jurisdiction

Complaint  
merits investigation 
-  The VI may investigate the complaint 

as a complaint under s 43 of the VI Act

-  Withdraw of  complaint -  
s 48A of the VI Act

-  Own motion investigation -  
s 46 of the VI Act

Complaint 
does not merit 
investigation 
Advise complainant that 
no further action will be 
taken, giving reasons

Complaint is 
outside jurisdiction 
Advise complainant that no further action 
will be taken, giving reasons.

CONDUCT INVESTIGATION

and the agency complained of has 
dealt with the issue lawfully and 
appropriately . 

Further information is available on the 
VI’s website: https://www.vic.gov.au/
vicinspectorate/complaints/making-
a-complaint

VI’s complaint assessment flowchart:
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COMPLAINTS OUTCOMES

OF THE 36 COMPLAINTS RECEIVED ABOUT IBAC 
OR IBAC PERSONNEL:

22 
IBAC complainants’ files were requested and reviewed 
by the VI

19 
complaints were closed after VI’s assessment, as there 
was insufficient evidence to support the allegations, 
or there was no evidence to suggest that IBAC had 
improperly exercised its discretion as to whether or not 
to investigate a complaint that had been made to it

7 
complaints were still being considered by the VI as at  
30 June 2018

3 
complaints were deemed closed as requested 
information was not provided by the complainant

2 
complaints were dismissed

1 
complaint was outside the VI’s jurisdiction

1 
complaint is being investigated as part of a protected 
disclosure investigation 

on 2 occasions the VI raised concerns about IBAC’s 
communication with complainants 

on 1 occasion the VI raised concerns about the time  
IBAC was taking to review a police file.

OF THE 4 COMPLAINTS RECEIVED  
ABOUT OVIC OFFICERS:

3 
OVIC complainants’ files were requested and reviewed 
by the VI

2
complaints were closed after the VI’s assessment because 
there was no evidence of breach of procedural fairness

1 
complaint was outside the VI’s jurisdiction

1 
complaint was still being considered by the VI as at  
30 June 2018.

OF THE 36 COMPLAINTS RECEIVED 
ABOUT VO OFFICERS:

15 
VO complainants’ files were requested and reviewed by 
the VI

13 
complaints were closed after the VI’s assessment, as 
there was no evidence of breach of procedural fairness 

10 
complaints were still being considered by the VI as at  
30 June 2018

4 
complaints were considered to be outside the VI’s 
jurisdiction

3 
complaints were deemed closed because information 
requested was not provided by the complainant

2 
complaints were not considered by the VI because they 
were premature (still being considered by the VO or by 
a government body)

1 
complaint was dismissed 

on 3 occasions the VO conducted an internal review of 
the initial complaint once contacted by the VI.

The VI also received one complaint about Victoria 
Police. The VI has no power to receive complaints 
about Victoria Police. Complaints about Victoria 
Police can be addressed to IBAC or directly to 
Victoria Police (Professional Standards Command, 
Police Conduct Unit). 
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INVESTIGATIONS, EXAMINATIONS 
AND INTERVIEWS 
The VI may investigate a complaint 
received either directly or as a referral. 
It must investigate a protected 
disclosure complaint. The VI may 
investigate matters on its own motion. 
The VI may also conduct an inquiry 
about any matter arising from an 
investigation.

Examinations and interviews are part 
of the VI’s investigative processes.

An examination takes place when 
a person is summoned by the VI 
pursuant to section 53 of the VI Act. 
Examinations are conducted on 
oath or affirmation and the subject 
matter of the attendance and 
examination may be made subject 
to a confidentiality notice. A person 
summoned may be required to answer 
questions or produce specified 
documents or things, or both. The 
VI may direct a person summoned 
not to engage a particular legal 
representative (though the person may 
engage another legal representative).

An interview takes place when a 
person attends at the VI’s office to 
answer questions without being 
summoned. Under section 47 of the 
VI Act, agencies overseen by the VI 
are required to attend before the 
VI to answer questions or produce 
documents to the VI in relation to an 
investigation conducted by the VI 
without the necessity to summons 
agency staff.   

During this financial year the VI 
initiated two preliminary inquiries 
under section 48C of the VI Act, 
and commenced one own motion 
investigation in relation to the 
Ombudsman. The VI also commenced 
one protected disclosure complaint 
investigation about IBAC. One 
investigation about IBAC was 
completed and one investigation 
about IBAC was completed to the 
stage of a draft report.

In 2017–18 the VI issued 5 summonses 
under section 53 of the VI Act. A total 
of 5 witnesses were examined and 
required to produce documents. A 
further 7 witnesses were interviewed.

The VI also issued 12 confidentiality 

Plan investigation 
• Planning phase 

• Notify complainant 
• Notify agency (unless this could prejudice the investigation)  

- s 44 of the VI Act

Exercise of specific powers 
• Inquiry (s 49 and s 50 of the VI Act) 
• Examination (s 51(1) of the VI Act) 

• Enter, search, inspect, copy and seize any document  
(s 63 of the VI Act) 

• Witness summons (s 53 of the VI Act) 
• Request to produce documents (s 60 of the VI Act) 
• Examine on oath or affirmation (s 62 of the VI Act) 

• Issue Confidentiality Notice (s 38 of the VI Act)

Weigh up probative value of information  
• Implementation Phase 

• If adverse report, the VI must provide opportunity to agency 
to comment (s 87(2) and s 91(2) of the VI Act

Investigation closure 
• Communicate outcome to complainant - s 88 of the VI Act

• Communicate outcome to agency - s 89 of the VI Act

Possible outcome of an investigation 
• Recommendations to agencies - s 78 to s 86 of the VI Act

• Special report - s 87 of the VI Act
• Report in the annual report - s 91 of the VI Act

• Advice to complainant - s 88 of the VI Act
• Do any or all of these things

• Make no finding or take no action following investigation

VI’s investigation flowchart:

notices and cancelled 8. 

The VI did not issue restrictions 
of legal representation during this 
financial year, nor made requests for 
reasonable assistance pursuant to 
section 48(1) of the VI Act.
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INVESTIGATIONS OUTCOMES
This year the VI finalised one own 
motion investigation into the manner 
in which IBAC handled a complaint 
it received about another agency 
(the Agency). IBAC determined this 
complaint to be a protected disclosure 
complaint and referred it to the 
Agency for investigation. A complaint 
was made to the VI that IBAC had, 
contrary to the complainant’s express 
request, disclosed the identity of the 
complainant to the Agency and had 
failed to properly deal with a number 
of other matters the complainant had 
brought to IBAC’s attention.

The VI determined that IBAC operated 
within its legislated jurisdiction in 
referring the matter to the Agency 
for investigation and, in disclosing 
the identity of the complainant to the 
Agency, had acted in accordance with 
legal advice. However, the VI found 
that certain aspects of IBAC’s handling 
of the complaint were unsatisfactory. 
Seven recommendations were made 
to IBAC in the final investigation 
report.

In accordance with section 78(5) 
of the VI Act, IBAC was required to 
report back to the VI within 28 days 
stating whether or not IBAC had 
taken, or intended to take, the actions 
recommended by the VI, and if IBAC 
had not taken the recommended 
action or did not intend to take the 
recommended action, the reason for 
not taking or intending to take the 
action. IBAC, in its response to the 
recommendations, noted some but 
did not accept others.

STATUTORY NOTIFICATIONS
The IBAC Act requires IBAC to report 
a number of matters to the VI:

 •  Section 43 of the IBAC Act 
requires IBAC to give the VI 
copies of any confidentiality 
notice issued by it, and certain 
related documents including 
cancellations of confidentiality 
notices. The VI received 128 

notifications relating to the issue 
of confidentiality notices and 122 
cancellation of confidentiality 
notices during the reporting 
period.

 •  Section 59G of the IBAC Act 
requires IBAC to report to the VI 
the issue of summons to produce 
documents and other things in 
respect of a preliminary inquiry. 
The VI received 77 notifications 
under section 59G of the IBAC 
Act. 

 •  Section 71 of the IBAC Act 
requires IBAC to notify the VI 
of any complaint or notification 
to the IBAC if that complaint or 
notification involves conduct  
of IBAC itself or of any person 
who is, or was at the time of the 
conduct, an IBAC officer. During 
this financial year the VI received 
2 notifications under section 71 of 
the IBAC Act.

 •  Section 73 of the IBAC Act 
requires IBAC to refer to the 
VI a complaint or notification if 
IBAC considers that the subject 
matter is relevant to the VI or it 
would be more appropriate for 
the complaint or notification to 
be investigated by the VI. During 
2017–18 the VI did not receive any 
notifications under section 73 of 
the IBAC Act. 

 •  Section 117 of the IBAC Act 
requires IBAC to report to the 
VI any determination to hold 
an examination in public. The 
report is required to address the 
reasons why IBAC considered that 
the requirements of that section 
in relation to the holding of 
examinations in public were met. 
In the 2017–18 reporting year the 
VI received one notification under 
section 117 of the IBAC Act.

 •  Section 122 of the IBAC Act 
requires IBAC to report to the VI 
the issue of any witness summons, 
including the name of the person 

summoned and the reasons why 
the summons was issued. The VI 
received 373 notifications relating 
to the issue of witness summonses 
during the reporting period. Of 
those summonses 23 required 
immediate attendance by the 
person summoned.

 •  Section 128 of the IBAC Act 
requires IBAC to notify the 
VI of any direction made in 
relation to an Australian Legal 
Practitioner. This may be in 
relation to a specific person that 
a witness may not engage as a 
legal representative, or another 
matter. The VI did not receive any 
notifications under section 128 of 
the IBAC Act during this reporting 
period.

 •  Section 134 of the IBAC Act 
requires IBAC to give the VI a 
copy of the video recording, and 
of any transcript, of a coercive 
examination. The VI received 
138 notifications relating to the 
conduct of examinations during 
the reporting period in relation to 
107 individuals.

 •  Sections 142 and 154 of the IBAC 
Act require IBAC to report to 
the VI the issue of certain arrest 
warrants. The IBAC did not report 
the issue of any such warrant 
during the reporting period. 

The Ombudsman is required 
to notify the VI in various 
circumstances:
 •  Section 16F of the Ombudsman 

Act requires the Ombudsman 
to notify the VI of any complaint 
which appears to relate to the 
conduct of, among others, 
IBAC, IBAC personnel or an 
Ombudsman officer. During the 
reporting period the Ombudsman 
referred 4 complaints to the VI.

 •  Section 18A of the Ombudsman 
Act requires the Ombudsman 
to report to the VI the name of 
each person summoned to give 
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evidence in an investigation 
conducted by the Ombudsman. 
The report must be provided 
within 3 days after the issue of 
the summons and must also state 
the reasons why the summons 
was issued. During the reporting 
period the Ombudsman reported 
the issue of 14 summonses to the 
VI.

 •  Section 18F(7) of the Ombudsman 
Act requires the Ombudsman 
to provide the VI with a copy 
of an audio or video recording 
of the examination of a person 
whose attendance before an 
Ombudsman officer was a 
compulsory appearance. The term 
‘compulsory appearance’ applies 
to any person who was examined 
on oath or affirmation, whether or 
not pursuant to a summons. The 
VI received 82 audio recordings 
of the examinations of 69 
persons who made compulsorily 
appearances before Ombudsman 
officers.

 •  Section 26E of the Ombudsman 
Act requires the Ombudsman 
to provide the VI with copies 
of any confidentiality notice 
issued by the Ombudsman 
during an investigation and 
certain other documents relating 
to confidentiality notices. The 
VO notifies the VI of both the 
issue and cancellation of a 
confidentiality notice. During the 
reporting period the Ombudsman 
reported to the VI that 46 
confidentiality notices had been 
issued and 48 cancelled.

The Office of Chief Examiner 
(OCE) notifies the VI in a range of 
circumstances:
 •  Section 52 of the MCIP Act 

requires the OCE to report to the 
VI each time a witness summons is 
issued or a custody order is made. 
The report must be made within 3 
days after the summons is issued 
or the order is made, and must 
set out the name of the person 

concerned and the reasons why 
the summons was issued or the 
order was made. During the 
reporting period the OCE made a 
total of 80 reports to the VI under 
section 52 of the MCIP Act. Sixty-
nine were reports of the issue of 
a summons to a person to give 
evidence; 16 were reports of the 
making of a custody order; and 
11 were reports of the issue of a 
summons to produce documents 
or things.

 •  Section 53 of the MCIP Act 
requires the OCE to give a 
written report to the VI as soon as 
practicable after an examination 
has been completed, setting out 
various matters and including 
copies of the video recording and 
any transcript of the examination. 
During the reporting period the 
OCE made a total of 50 reports 
under section 53 in relation to the 
examinations of 39 persons and 6 
financial institutions. 

 •  While the OCE is not obliged 
to notify the VI of the issue of 
a witness summons or custody 
order by the Supreme Court 
of Victoria, this is done as a 
matter of courtesy. The VI 
received 5 notifications in 
relation to Supreme Court issued 
summonses. 

 •  On the issue, extension, 
cancellation or lapsing of a 
Coercive Powers Order (CPO), the 
OCE provides the VI with a letter 
and, if relevant, a copy of the 
CPO. During 2017–18 the VI was 
notified that 6 CPOs were issued 
and one was extended. 

VAGO, OVIC and the Judicial 
Commission of Victoria must notify 
the VI of matters relating to their 
use of coercive powers. To date the 
VI has not received any notifications 
from VAGO, OVIC or the Judicial 
Commission on their use of coercive 
powers.

In total the VI received 1177 
notifications during the reporting 
period. This represents a 66% increase 
over the previous financial year. 
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Notifications received in 2017–18

Notifications reviewed in 2017–18

IBAC – IBAC ACT  

S 43 - Confidentiality notice 250

S 59G - Summons, preliminary inquiry 77

S 71 - Complaint referral 2

S 73 - Complaint referral 0

S 117(5) – Public hearing 1

S 122 – Summons 373

S 128 - Direction to lawyer 0

S 134 – Recordings 138

Total 841

VO – OMBUDSMAN ACT  

S 16F - Complaint referral 4

S 18A - Summons 14

S 18F(7) - Recordings 82

S 26E - Confidentiality notice 94

Total 194

OCE – MCIP ACT  

S 52 - Summons (OCE) 80

S 53 - Recordings 50

SCV issued - Summons (Court) 5

CPO notifications 7

Total 142

TOTAL ALL AGENCIES: 1177

SUMMONS REVIEWED

2017 – 2018 % COMPLETE

AGENCY EXAMINATIONS RECEIVED REVIEWED 

IBAC S 122 373 171 46%

VO S 18A 14  7 50%

OCE S 52 80 34 43%

TOTAL  467 212 45%

EXAMINATIONS REVIEWED

2017 – 2018 % COMPLETE

AGENCY EXAMINATIONS RECEIVED REVIEWED 

IBAC S 134 138* 72 52%

VO S 18F(7) 82**  39 48%

OCE S 53 50 21 43%

TOTAL  270 132 49%

* 107 of 138 recordings received 
related to unique individuals

**69 of the 82 recordings received 
related to unique individuals

IBAC
71%

VO
17%

VAGO 0%

OVIC 0%

Judicial 
Commission 0%

OCE
12%



Other than notifications from the 
Chief Examiner or Examiners under 
the MCIP Act, there is no legislative 
guidance either in the VI Act or 
the legislation relating to integrity 
agencies as to what is required of 
the VI on receipt of notifications. For 
example under section 134 of the 
IBAC Act, IBAC is required to give the 
VI a copy of the recording of witness 
examinations. There is no provision in 
the IBAC Act or the VI Act about what 
function or duty the VI has in relation 
to those recordings.

In the absence of legislative guidance 
the VI has looked to the provisions of 
the MCIP Act to guide its approach 
with respect to notifications. That 
approach is one based on considering 
the compliance of the notifications 
with the statutory provisions relating 
to the relevant integrity agency and 
assessing the lawfulness and propriety 
of the questioning of witnesses in the 
course of examinations by integrity 
agencies. Given the large volume of 
notifications to the VI from integrity 
agencies the VI, with its limited 
resources, cannot closely review all of 
them. Decision needs to be made as 
to priority for detailed review.

The Integrity and Accountability 
Legislation Amendment (Public 
Interest Disclosures, Oversight and 
Independence) Bill 2018 (the Bill) 
addresses the present lack of legislative 
guidance in amendments to the VI 
Act. The Bill makes it clear that the VI 
has discretion about what notifications 
it may review and mandates the 
nature of that review. The nature of 
the review to be conducted by the 
VI is consistent across the integrity 
agencies. With respect to each agency, 
the VI is required to review (i) whether 
the notification is compliant with the 
legislation governing the integrity 
agency, (ii) whether a requirement by 
an integrity agency for a person to 
produce documents or things may 
reasonably be considered as assisting 
the agency to achieve the purposes of 
its investigation and (iii) whether the 
questioning of a person attending the 

integrity agency for an examination 
may reasonably be considered as 
assisting the agency to achieve the 
purposes of the investigation to which 
the examination relates.

The VI welcomes this proposed clarity 
in its oversight of integrity agencies. 
Notifications are a valuable tool in the 
exercise of our oversight functions 
and in particular, our oversight of the 
exercise of coercive power by integrity 
agencies. For example, the VI may 
receive a complaint from a person 
who believes they were questioned 
in an examination by an integrity 
agency on a deeply personal matter 
which they say has no bearing on 
the investigation being conducted 
by the agency. In enquiring into that 
complaint, the VI officer may listen to 
the recording of their examination. 

The VI may also listen to other 
recordings that relate to the particular 
agency investigation. In the course of 
the VI’s enquiry, the VI may identify a 
pattern of questioning by the agency 
in relation to personal matters which 
do not appear to be relevant to the 
subject matter of the investigation 
it is conducting. Depending on the 
outcome of the enquiry, the VI may 
approach the agency about the 
conduct of the examination, engage 
with the agency in assessing any 
relevant policies or procedures of the 
agency (including training material) or 
conduct an investigation to scrutinise 
the examination practice of the 
agency. Where there is evidence of a 
pattern or a systemic practice in the 
agency, the VI may conduct an own 
motion investigation which enables 
the VI to consider the practice of the 
agency outside the four corners of the 
complaint.

A review of notifications may lead the 
VI to undertake a preliminary inquiry 
or an investigation in relation to a 
particular matter. The VI is currently 
undertaking a preliminary inquiry 
and an investigation into matters 
arising from the reviews of coercive 
examinations conducted by the 
Ombudsman.

VICTORIAN INSPECTORATE  |  2017 – 18 ANNUAL REPORT  |  19



20  |  VICTORIAN INSPECTORATE  |  2017 – 18 ANNUAL REPORT

The responsibilities of the VI in respect 
of the above matters include:

 •  the inspection of records, 
 •  monitoring legislative compliance, 

and
 •  reporting of outcomes to 

Ministers and, where required, to 
both Houses of Parliament.

TELECOMMUNICATIONS 
INTERCEPTION
There are two agencies in the State 
of Victoria that are permitted under 
section 34 of the Telecommunications 
(Interception and Access) Act 
1979 (Cth) (TIA Act) to intercept 
telecommunications under the 
authority of a warrant and to make 
certain uses of lawfully intercepted 
information. The two agencies are 
Victoria Police and IBAC.

The VI conducts two rounds of 
inspections and reports annually to 
the Minister of Police and the Special 
Minister of State (currently the Minister 
responsible for IBAC).

Reports under the 
Telecommunications (Interception) 
(State Provisions) Act 1988 (TISP Act) 
are not publicly available and are 
provided only to agency chief officers, 
the Police Minister, the Minister and 
the State Attorney-General. The 
Police Minister and Minister must then 
forward a copy to the Commonwealth 
Attorney-General (as the Minister 
responsible for the TIA Act). 

During the 2017–18 year the VI 
conducted two rounds of inspections 
with each agency and lodged reports 
with the Minister within the statutory 
time frame.

SURVEILLANCE DEVICES
The VI has responsibility under the 
Surveillance Devices Act 1999 (SD Act) 
to inspect those Victorian agencies 
that are authorised to use surveillance 
devices. During the reporting period 

a number of Victorian agencies were 
authorised by legislation to use 
surveillance devices. They are:

 •  Victoria Police
 •  IBAC
 •  Game Management Authority 

(GMA)
 •  Victorian Fisheries Authority (VFA)
 •  Department of Environment, 

Land, Water and Planning 
(DELWP) 

The SD Act requires the VI to inspect 
the records of those agencies from 
time to time and to report the results 
of inspections to each House of the 
Parliament as soon as practicable after 
1 January and 1 July of each year. A 
copy of the report is required to be 
provided to the Minister (the Attorney 
General) at the time it is transmitted to 
the Parliament. 

During the 2017–18 reporting period, 
4 agencies (Victoria Police, IBAC, VFA 
and DELWP)  exercised the authority 
to use surveillance devices. Bi-annual 
inspections were conducted by 
the VI at Victoria Police, IBAC and 
VFA on the records required to be 
held by the agencies relating to the 
surveillance device warrants issued. 
Only one round of inspections was 
conducted at the records held by 
DELWP as they did not exercise their 
powers in the second round. Reports 
on the outcomes of the inspections 
conducted were tabled and are 
available on the VI website.

CONTROLLED OPERATIONS
A controlled operation is a covert 
investigation method used by law 
enforcement agencies. It involves a 
participant (usually a law enforcement 
officer, but sometimes a civilian) 
working ‘under cover’ and associating 
with people suspected of criminal 
activity in order to obtain evidence 
to support the prosecution of an 
offence. For this purpose and subject 
to strict controls and guidelines, the 

participant may need to engage 
in unlawful conduct. Under the 
legislation a controlled operations 
authority may be granted which 
indemnifies authorised participants 
against liability for such unlawful 
conduct. 

The power to conduct controlled 
operations is governed by:

 •  the Crimes (Controlled 
Operations) Act 2004 (CCO Act) 
in respect of Victoria Police and 
IBAC,

 •  the Fisheries Act 1995 (Fisheries 
Act) in respect of VFA, 

 •  the Wildlife Act 1975 (Wildlife 
Act) in respect of the Compliance 
Support Group, as part of DELWP, 
and the GMA. 

During the 2017–18 year, the VI 
received bi-annual reports from the 
chief officer of each agency authorised 
to conduct controlled operations.

The CCO Act, Fisheries Act and 
Wildlife Act also require the VI to 
inspect the records and documents 
of the authorised law enforcement 
agencies and to report to the relevant 
Ministers and to the Parliament on the 
work, activities and level of statutory 
compliance achieved by each. Bi-
annual inspections were scheduled 
and conducted at Victoria Police, IBAC 
and VFA.

No inspections were conducted in 
regard to the Wildlife Act as the 
relevant agencies did not conduct 
controlled operations during the 
reporting period. 

Reports on the outcomes of the 
inspections conducted were tabled 
and are available on the VI website.

Oversight of use of telecommunications interception, 
surveillance devices and controlled operations 
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The VI monitors the compliance of IBAC with the IBAC Act 
and the VI Act through:

 •  the receipt and management of complaints about IBAC 
and IBAC personnel

 •   the conduct of enquiries and investigations about the 
conduct of IBAC and IBAC personnel 

 •  the review of the exercise of coercive power by IBAC in 
the conduct of public and private examinations in the 
course of IBAC investigations 

 •  the review of areas of IBAC business practice and 
inspections of that practice.

Other than the engagement with IBAC through the exercise 
of the VI’s complaint and investigations functions, the VI 
also engages with IBAC about the systems, policies and 
procedures it utilises to perform its statutory functions. 

IBAC’S HANDLING OF POLICE MISCONDUCT 
COMPLAINTS
In the course of this reporting period the VI focussed on a 
review of the operational practice of IBAC in the conduct of 
its complaint management system by building on a project 
commenced by the VI last financial year looking at IBAC’s 
handling of police misconduct complaints. IBAC’s practice 
in this area is a matter of public interest and is currently 
the subject of a public inquiry by the IBAC Parliamentary 
Committee into the external oversight of police corruption 
and misconduct in Victoria.

The VI conducted an inspection of 100 IBAC police 
complaint files which constitute about 5% of IBAC’s 
complaints annually. The purpose of the inspection was to 
check that the policies and procedures utilised by IBAC in its 
complaint handling practice were adhered to and that such 
policies and procedures were effective in the exercise of 
IBAC’s complaint handling business with emphasis on police 
complaint handling. 

The inspection considered the assessment and 
determination of complaints by IBAC including whether the 
basis upon which recommendations and decisions by IBAC 
to dismiss complaints were transparent. A report of the 
inspection in the form of a preliminary review was provided 
to IBAC in June 2018. IBAC was notified that the results 
warranted consideration by the VI of a larger sample of 
complaints. It is anticipated that a second inspection and 
final report will be completed by the end of 2018.

It is to be noted that the VI reviewed a notification from 
the Chief Commissioner of Police about a complaint that 
arose from the project the VI commenced in the previous 
financial year. That review led to the then Inspector, Mr 
Robin Brett QC making recommendations in private to IBAC 
under section 78 of the VI Act. Mr Brett was concerned 
that information relevant to the decision making of IBAC 

in the management of this notification had been excluded 
by IBAC from consideration. IBAC responded to the 
recommendations by asking that they be reconsidered 
but also stated that they were unnecessary as the 
notification had been revisited and the subject information 
was considered along with additional information later 
provided to IBAC. While ultimately, on it being revisited, the 
notification was referred to the Chief Commissioner of Police 
for investigation, the concern of the previous Inspector with 
respect to the initial handling of the notification by IBAC 
is acknowledged and supported. In the circumstances the 
VI has not engaged further with IBAC in relation to the 
recommendations. 

PERFORMANCE BY IBAC OF ITS FUNCTIONS UNDER 
SECTION 55(1) OF THE PD ACT
The VI has a function under section 11(2)(b) of the VI Act to 
oversee the performance by IBAC of its functions under the 
PD Act.

During this reporting period the VI commenced a review to 
consider whether IBAC’s policies, procedures and practice 
enabled IBAC to perform its functions under setion 55(1) 
of the PD Act. Those functions relate to the receipt and 
assessment by IBAC of assessable disclosures and the 
determination of whether they are protected disclosure 
complaints.

The desktop review stage of the VI’s review has been 
completed. This stage will be followed by an inspection 
of IBAC’s operational practice in adhering to its policies 
and procedures. The review may also consider alternative 
models for the delivery of protected disclosure frameworks 
and systems. 

IBAC’s practice as well as the practice of other integrity 
agencies including the VI is expected to change should the 
Integrity and Accountability Legislation Amendment (Public 
Interest Disclosures, Oversight and Independence) Bill 2018 
currently before Parliament be passed. The VI, together with 
other integrity agencies, engaged in extensive consultations 
in the development of the Bill particularly with respect to 
amendments to the PD Act. 

Against the background of this expected change to IBAC’s 
practice, the VI decided to share the preliminary findings 
of the desktop review to assist IBAC in reviewing its 
existing practice. The VI provided IBAC with a report of its 
preliminary review titled ‘Opportunities for improvement 
in the performance by IBAC of its functions under section 
55(1) of the PD Act’. IBAC was invited to consider whether it 
would benefit from those opportunities and respond to the 
VI for the purpose of informing the future course of the VI’s 
review. 

Independent Broad-based 
Anti-corruption Commission
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The main opportunities for improvement identified in the 
VI’s report related to (i) capturing in written form IBAC’s 
current internal processes for receiving and assessing 
disclosures and protecting the identity of the discloser and 
the content of the disclosure and (ii) making additional 
information available to the public on its website to assist 
persons making disclosures.

IBAC responded to the VI’s preliminary review by 
acknowledging that there would be significant changes 
in IBAC’s work practice with the passage of the Integrity 
and Accountability Legislation Amendment (Public Interest 
Disclosures, Oversight and Independence) Bill 2018. IBAC 
stated that such changes would require a comprehensive 
review of IBAC’s procedures and that IBAC will consider all 
aspects of the VI’s report in the conduct of that review.  

The VI will complete its review in 2018–19 and report on the 
outcome in the next annual report. 

OWN MOTION INVESTIGATION
In June 2018 the VI provided to IBAC a draft report of an 
own motion investigation that had been initiated in April 
2016 on the subject of the health and welfare of persons 
involved in IBAC investigations. 

OTHER MATTERS
In the course of the year a number of other issues were 
raised, and discussed, with IBAC.

IBAC and the VI agreed on a revised arrangement regarding 
the provision of information to the VI in relation to witness 
summonses issued by IBAC. Within 3 days after a summons 
is signed, IBAC is to provide the VI with documents setting 
out the reasons for the examination of the witness, the 
contact details of the relevant IBAC officer, details of what 
other documents are to be provided to the witness at the 
time of service and information as to the date of service of 
the summons. If the summons has not been served within 
those 3 days, IBAC is to advise the VI of the date of service 
as soon as practicable after service. If the return date for the 
witness is altered, the VI is to be informed of the new date. 
Under the revised arrangement the VI is to, not less than 2 
days before the return date, advise the contact legal officer 
of any issues arising out of the provided material.

As a result of discussion between the VI and IBAC, a 
pilot program was agreed to be trialled for the electronic 
transmission to the VI of the material provided by IBAC 
relation to witness summonses. Ordinarily these are 
delivered by hand. However, both organisations see that 
greater efficiency would be achieved if they could be 
transmitted electronically, in a secure manner.
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IBAC COMMITTEE REPORT: A FRAMEWORK FOR 
MONITORING THE PERFORMANCE OF IBAC
On 14 November 2017 the IBAC Committee reported 
on a framework for monitoring and reviewing IBAC’s 
performance as an anti-corruption body in Victoria. 
The Committee made three recommendations to the 
Government to support that framework. 

The first and third recommendations are to be read 
together. The first recommended an amendment to the 
IBAC Act to give the IBAC Committee responsibility for 
monitoring the performance of IBAC at 4 year intervals 
using indicators of performance designed for a model anti-
corruption agency. The third recommendation sought the 
assistance of the Government to implement the proposed 
framework. 

The Government response to the recommendations 
was tabled on 6 February 2018. The Government did 
not support the first and third recommendations. The 
Government responded that it will instead introduce 
legislation under its broad review of the integrity and 
accountability system to require IBAC’s performance to be 
audited by an independent auditor rather than a Committee 
at least every 4 years consistent with the existing audit 
process applying to the Auditor-General. 

The VI is in agreement with the Government response. 
The VI is of the view that whilst the IBAC Committee has 
an important role in the oversight of IBAC, that oversight 
ought not to extend to monitoring and reviewing IBAC’s 
performance against performance indicators designed for a 
model anti-corruption agency.

The IBAC Committee made a second recommendation 
in relation to the role of the VI in the oversight of IBAC’s 
performance. The Committee recommended that the IBAC 
Act and the VI Act be amended to clarify the VI’s oversight 
role. The Committee recommended that the VI ‘monitor on 
behalf of the Parliament the legality and propriety of IBAC’s 
operations including assurance that IBAC’s exercise of its 
powers is compliant with applicable legislation rather than 
to monitor IBAC’s broader performance’. 

The Government response to the second recommendation 
was to support it in principle in the following terms: 

“The Government agrees that the Victorian 
Inspectorate’s role is to monitor, in light of the objects 
of the Victorian Inspectorate Act 2011, the legality and 
propriety of IBAC’s operations, while the Committee is 
responsible for monitoring the performance of IBAC. 
The work of the Victorian Inspectorate should continue 
to help the Committee to perform its monitoring role. 
The Government will continue to consider whether 
legislative change is needed to ensure the role of the 
Victorian Inspectorate and Committee are sufficiently 
clear”

The VI is in agreement with the Government response. 
The IBAC Committee is responsible for monitoring IBAC’s 
performance as an integrity and investigative body. The VI, 
by contrast, is responsible for monitoring IBAC’s operational 
activities to ensure they are compliant with IBAC’s governing 
legislation. As indicated by the IBAC Committee on page 31 
of its report, “the Inspectorate’s roles in monitoring IBAC’s 
compliance with its legislation extend to assessing whether 
IBAC has effective and appropriate procedures for ensuring 
that it conducts itself lawfully and with propriety”. In 
assessing the effectiveness and appropriateness of IBAC’s 
procedures the VI assesses whether those procedures 
enable IBAC to perform its statutory functions lawfully and 
with propriety.  

Whilst the VI describes its oversight of IBAC in terms of 
legality and propriety, that is an abbreviated description 
of the VI’s oversight role. As indicated in the Government 
response, the VI monitors the legality and propriety of 
IBAC’s operations in the light of the objects of the VI Act. 
A central object of the VI Act specified in section 5(b) is to 
assist IBAC in improving its capacity in the performance of 
its duties and functions and in the exercise of its powers. 
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Victorian Auditor-General’s Office

VAGO undertakes annual audits of the financial statements 
of public sector entities and has done this in one form or 
another since 1851. A financial audit provides assurance 
that the financial statements of an entity present fairly the 
financial position, cash flows and results of operations for 
the year, in accordance with relevant financial reporting 
frameworks and standards. Financial audits are undertaken 
for around 550 public sector entities. VAGO also conducts 
a review of the state’s Estimated Financial Statements and 
provides an opinion for inclusion in the state’s Budget 
Papers.

VAGO also conducts performance audits to evaluate 
whether an organisation or government program is 
performing effectively, economically and efficiently, and 
in compliance with all relevant legislation. VAGO conducts 
around 25-30 performance audits annually.

The VI is required to monitor the exercise of power (coercive 
power) by VAGO officers under section 11 of the Audit Act 
1994 (Audit Act) and compliance by VAGO officers with 
sections 11(1A), 11A, 11B, 11C, 11D, 11E, 11F and 20(1) and 
(3) of the Audit Act.

During 2016–17 a monitoring tool was developed by the 
VI to enable the Auditor-General to self-report on a six 
monthly basis to the VI about their compliance with those 
statutory provisions. Those tools were used by the Auditor-
General this financial year to report to the VI. In 2017–18 
VAGO officers did not exercise power under section 11 
and complied with all statutory obligations required to be 
monitored by the VI. 

The VI reviewed the policies and procedures utilised 
by VAGO in the exercise of those powers. The review 
considered whether the policies and procedures were 
appropriate and effective to allow VAGO officers to either 
properly use coercive powers or to be compliant with the 
provisions of the Audit Act over which the VI has oversight. 
The review found that the policies and procedures were 
broadly appropriate and effective for those purposes. The 
VI identified some relatively minor omissions or statements 
that could be improved on which were accepted by VAGO.

Section 43(3) of the VI Act provides that a complaint can 
be made about the conduct of a VAGO officer in respect 
of the exercise or purported exercise of coercive powers in 
relation to any matter, or compliance with sections 11(1A), 
11A, 11B, 11C, 11D, 11E, 11F and 20(1) and (3) of the Audit 
Act (specified conduct).

Under section 43(4), without limiting the generality of 
complaints about the specified conduct under section 
43(3), a complaint may be made on the basis that the 
specified conduct was:
 • contrary to law; or
 •  unreasonable, unjust, oppressive or improperly 

discriminatory; or
 • based on improper motives; or
 • an abuse of power; or
 • otherwise improper.

The VI’s complaint function in relation to VAGO is essentially 
identical to the provisions for IBAC, VO and the Chief 
Examiner. Pursuant to section 44(1) of the VI Act, the VI may 
investigate a complaint made under section 43 in order 
to assess the conduct in respect of which the complaint 
is made or any other conduct relevant to the matter. This 
is a discretionary power, that is, the VI does not have to 
investigate a complaint. Under section 44(2), however, the 
VI must investigate a protected disclosure complaint. During 
2017–18 the VI did not receive any complaints relating to 
VAGO and it made no recommendations to the Auditor-
General.
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Victorian Ombudsman

The VI monitors the exercise of coercive power by VO 
officers and compliance by VO officers with procedural 
fairness requirements under the Ombudsman Act or any 
other Act through:
 •  the receipt and management of complaints about VO 

officers
 •  the conduct of enquiries and investigations about the 

conduct of VO officers  
 •  the review of the exercise of coercive power by VO 

officers in the conduct of compulsory appearances in 
the course of investigations by the Ombudsman 

 •  the review of areas of Ombudsman business practice 
and inspections of that practice.

Other than the engagement with the Ombudsman through 
the exercise of the VI’s complaint and investigations 
functions, the VI also engages with the Ombudsman about 
the practice, policies and procedures the Ombudsman 
utilises in the exercise of its statutory functions with respect 
to coercive power and procedural fairness. 

During this reporting period the VI outlined to the 
Ombudsman opportunities for closer engagement with 
the Ombudsman in relation to the receipt of internal 
policies and procedures and providing contextual material 

on notifications by the Ombudsman to the VI when there 
is an exercise of coercive power by the Ombudsman in 
circumstances where no summons is issued. Opportunities 
were also put forward to facilitate monitoring activity by 
the VI that is targeted to a given policy or procedure of the 
Ombudsman that the VI considers worthy of scrutiny or 
intervention. The Ombudsman has responded positively to 
that engagement and a framework for engagement will be 
settled during the first half of next financial year.

An area of targeted monitoring activity commenced by 
the VI this financial year is in relation to the conduct of 
appearances before the Ombudsman in the conduct of 
investigations where persons make voluntary appearances. 
Persons can agree to provide evidence to investigators in 
circumstances where they are not required to take an oath 
or make an affirmation and in circumstances where they are 
required to take an oath or make an affirmation.  

The VI has obtained a sample of files from the Ombudsman 
for inspection to check whether such persons give informed 
consent to provide evidence and whether they are informed 
of any adverse impact of providing such evidence. The 
result of that inspection will be reported on in the first half 
of next financial year.  

CASE STUDY 1
One of the VI’s functions in respect 
of VO officers under the VI Act is 
to monitor the exercise of coercive 
powers by VO officers and the 
compliance by VO officers with 
procedural fairness requirements in 
performance of functions under the 
Ombudsman Act or any other Act . 
In accordance with this function, the 
VI conducts reviews of Ombudsman 
coercive examinations. 

Witness A attended the VO’s office 
for a compulsory appearance under 
oath pursuant to section 18 of the 
Evidence (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1958. Witness A did not have a 
legal representative present during 
the appearance but instead brought 
a “support person”. 

There is no legislative provision 
which allows disclosure of a 
protected disclosure to anyone 

except in specified circumstances 
set out in the PD Act. If a legal 
representative is present during an 
appearance, the Ombudsman must 
advise the legal representative of 
any non-disclosure requirements 
that apply under the PD Act. 

The VI took issue with the process 
used for advising a support person 
present during an appearance in a 
protected disclosure investigation 
of any non-disclosure requirements 
that apply and ensuring they were 
aware of these obligations. 

The VI further considered whether 
the attendance of the support 
person during an appearance in a 
protected disclosure investigation 
is in breach of Part 7 of the PD Act. 
For this purpose, the VI enquired 
with the Ombudsman as to what 
her current processes were for 
authorising the attendance of 

a support person, and how she 
ensures the confidentiality of 
a protected disclosure is not 
compromised by the attendance of 
a support person.

The Ombudsman reported that 
there is no legislative requirement 
to authorise a support person to 
attend an examination. However the 
witness is given an opportunity to 
request a support person and the 
investigator makes a decision as to 
their suitability. 

Since receiving the VI’s enquiries, 
the Ombudsman has made it 
a mandatory requirement for a 
support person to be issued a 
confidentiality notice under section 
15C of the Ombudsman Act when 
providing support to a witness in a 
protected disclosure investigation.



Office of Chief Examiner

The VI has a function under section 51(a) of the MCIP Act 
to monitor the compliance by the Chief Examiner, the 
Examiners, the Chief Commissioner of Police (CCP) and 
other police officers with the MCIP Act. 

The VI reported last financial year that it had reviewed its 
functions in relation to the Chief Examiner, Examiners and 
the CCP and other police officers under the MCIP Act to 
strengthen and streamline the VI’s monitoring activities. 
From this review the VI engaged with the Chief Examiner 
and a number of representatives of the CCP in the conduct 
of a review of the compliance of the Chief Examiner and the 
CCP and other police officers with the MCIP Act.

The VI reviewed the policies and procedures of the office 
of Chief Examiner (OCE) to ensure they enabled the Chief 
Examiner to comply with their functions under the MCIP 
Act. The VI conducted a desktop review of procedures 
received from the OCE.

The review found that the procedures utilised by the Chief 
Examiner enabled the Chief Examiner to comply  with her 
statutory obligations under the MCIP Act. The VI identified 
2 relatively minor omissions or matters that could be 
improved on which were accepted by the Chief Examiner.

The VI also reviewed the policies and procedures of the CCP 
to ensure they enabled the CCP and other Victoria Police 
officers to comply with their functions under the MCIP Act. 

The VI completed the first stage of the review in the form 
of a desktop review. The VI recognises that the practice of 
Victoria Police at the OCE is informed by the procedures in 
the Victoria Police manual. 

The review found that although there are procedures in 
place for many of the statutory obligations of the CCP and 
other police officers under the MCIP Act, there were areas 
of statutory responsibility where it was not clear what the 
applicable policies and procedures of Victoria Police were. 
The VI and Victoria Police continue to consult on those 
areas.

The review conducted to date by the VI was a desktop 
review. The next stage of the VI’s review to be conducted 
early next financial year will involve inspecting a class of 
procedures utilised by Victoria Police in the OCE to ensure 
that such procedures are adhered to in the practice of the 
OCE.

Under section 66 of the MCIP Act the CCP must report 
to the VI every 6 months on certain matters relating the 
activities of the OCE including the number of applications 
made under that Act for the issue, extension, variation or 
revocation of a coercive powers order and of applications 
made under that Act for the issue of a witness summons 
or arrest warrant. The CCP fully discharged his reporting 
obligations to the VI for 2017–8.

CASE STUDY 2
The VI monitors compliance by the 
Chief Examiner and Examiner with 
provisions of the MCIP Act. One 
function of the VI is to assess the 
relevance of any requirement made 
by the Chief Examiner or Examiner 
for a person to produce a document 
or thing to the investigation of the 
organised crime offence in relation 
to which the coercive powers order 
was made . The Chief Examiner or 
Examiner is required to report on the 
issue of a witness summons to the VI 
under section 52 of the MCIP Act.

The VI received a report in 
December 2016 from the then Chief 
Examiner on the issue of a summons 
requiring a witness to attend before 
the Chief Examiner in January 2017 
to produce documents. The report 
did not appear to adequately set out 
the reasons a summons to produce 
documents was issued. Therefore, 
the VI conducted an assessment of 
the relevance of the issue of that 

summons. The summons had been 
issued by the then Chief Examiner 
to a witness to produce documents 
regarding another witness’ 
partner’s medical records, in order 
to determine the reasons for the 
witness avoiding giving evidence 
under their summons.

On its assessment of relevance 
in this matter the VI was of the 
opinion that the summons issued 
had an insufficient nexus with the 
investigation of any organised 
crime offence in relation to which 
the coercive powers order was 
made. The VI formed the view that 
a refusal to answer questions put 
to a witness who is under summons 
is not an organised crime offence 
and therefore is not relevant to the 
particular coercive powers order. On 
this view the issue of the summons 
for the documents sought was not 
supported by the coercive powers 
order.

The VI put this view to the Acting 
Chief Examiner in February 2018 
and, in response, the Acting Chief 
Examiner advised that although the 
documents sought did not relate 
directly to an organised crime 
offence, they related indirectly 
to the Chief Examiner’s inquiry in 
relation to a relevant organised 
crime offence and that the issue 
of the summons was a legitimate 
and permissible exercise of powers 
under the MCIP Act. Further, the 
Acting Chief Examiner expressed the 
view that the assessment of relevance 
favoured by the VI would preclude 
the Chief Examiner from pursuing 
avenues of inquiry to establish the 
bona fides of a witness ‘assertion’ in a 
situation where they were attempting 
to avoid giving evidence or failing to 
attend an examination in relation to 
an organised crime offence. 
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Office of the Victorian 
Information Commissioner
The Office of the Victorian Information Commissioner 
(OVIC) began operations in September 2017. 

The VI oversees the exercise of coercive power by OVIC 
officers under the Freedom of Information Act 1982 (FOI 
Act) and Privacy and Data Protection Act 2014 (PDP Act). 

The VI also monitors the compliance by OVIC officers with 
procedural fairness requirements in the performance of the 
Information Commissioner’s functions under the FOI Act 
and PDP Act or any other Act. 

The VI may also receive and investigate complaints about 
the conduct of officers of the OVIC.

In consultation with OVIC, the VI has created templates to 
be completed by OVIC on any exercise of coercive power by 
OVIC. The information entered into the templates informs 
the VI about the nature of the coercive power exercised and 
why it was exercised. For example, a completed  template 
accompanying a notice to produce documents or attend 
before the Information Commissioner to give evidence 
provides information to the VI about the notice as well 
as the reasons the notice was issued. Such information 
enables the VI to check OVIC’s compliance with the relevant 

statutory requirements for the issue of the notice.

The VI also reviewed during the reporting period the draft 
policies and procedures OVIC developed in relation to the 
exercise of coercive power by OVIC officers under the FOI 
Act or PDP Act. The VI reviewed whether the policies and 
procedures in the draft were appropriate and effective 
to achieve compliance by OVIC officers in the exercise of 
coercive power under the FOI Act and the PDP Act. The 
VI found that the policies and procedures were broadly 
appropriate and effective for OVIC officers to achieve 
compliance. 

The VI also considered the functions of OVIC that may 
attract procedural fairness requirements. There is no 
reference to the term ‘procedural fairness’ in the FOI Act 
or the PDP Act. There is, however, a reference to ‘natural 
justice’ in OVIC’s function of reviewing the decisions by 
principal officers to disclose or not disclose information 
under the FOI Act. It is a work in progress between the 
offices of OVIC and the VI to determine those areas of OVIC 
business that attract procedural fairness requirements.

During 2017–18 the VI received 4 complaints about OVIC.
The VI acknowledges the ready cooperation of the 
Information Commissioner in resolving complaints.  

CASE STUDY 3
One of the VI’s functions in 
respect of officers of the OVIC 
under the VI Act is to monitor the 
compliance by OVIC officers with 
procedural fairness requirements in 
performance of functions under the 
FOI Act. 

Complainant A applied to OVIC 
in January 2018 for review of a 
decision of an Agency not to release 
certain documents requested under 
the FOI Act. Section 49J(3) of the 
FOI Act requires the Information 
Commissioner to review the decision 
within 30 days unless the applicant 
agrees in writing to a longer period. 

The Information Commissioner 
requested Complainant A to 
agree to an extension to a date in 
April 2018 to conduct the review. 
Complainant A responded in writing 
to the Information Commissioner 
agreeing to a date in February 
2018. No acknowledgement of that 

response was given by OVIC.
The Information Commissioner did 
not make a decision on the review 
application by the date to which 
Complainant A had agreed. Under 
section 49J(2) of the FOI Act if the 
Information Commissioner does 
not make a decision by the agreed 
date, the Commissioner is, for the 
purposes of an application to VCAT, 
taken to have made a decision 
refusing to grant access to the 
documents.

The VI considered whether the 
failure to make a decision by the 
agreed date or to acknowledge 
and respond to the revised date 
submitted by Complainant A gave 
rise to a breach of procedural 
fairness requirements. The VI 
decided that the delay and failure 
to acknowledge did not amount 
to a breach of procedural fairness 
requirements as under the FOI Act. 
Complainant A’s right to apply to 
VCAT did not expire until a decision 

is provided to Complainant A by 
the Information Commissioner. 
Consequently, the VI did not have 
jurisdiction to further investigate the 
complaint.

The VI did, however, recommend 
to the Information Commissioner 
that communication with applicants 
be improved so that they receive 
confirmation of the agreed period 
for completing a review and are 
advised of the date on which their 
right to apply to VCAT arises.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND OVERSIGHT  
COMMITTEE REPORT INTO VICTORIAN OVERSIGHT 
AGENCIES 2016–17
On 21 February 2018 the Accountability and Oversight 
Committee (AOC) tabled a report in Parliament into 
Victorian oversight agencies 2016–17.

Recommendation 5 of the report sought the Victorian 
Government’s clarification in relation to  the monitoring and 
oversight of OVIC in relation to the AOC and VI’s similar 
responsibilities .

The Government provided its response on 9 August 
2018. While supporting in principle the intent of the 
recommendation, the Government does not support 
legislative change to address possible overlap between 
the AOC and the VI in relation to investigating complaints 
about OVIC. The Government advised that it is a matter 
for the AOC to consider how best to manage dealing with 
complaints that may also be the subject of a complaint to 
the VI, similar to the AOC’s current approach in relation to 
complaints about the VO. 

In relation to the monitoring and oversight of OVIC, the 
Government notes the responsibility of the AOC for 
monitoring the performance of OVIC in accordance with 
the Parliamentary Committees Act 2003, and the role of the 
VI under the VI Act to monitor, and deal with complaints 
in relation to, the exercise of coercive powers by OVIC’s 
officers and their compliance with procedural fairness 
requirements in performing their functions. 

With regard to possible overlap in investigating complaints 
about OVIC, the Government notes that complaints 
to the VI in relation to OVIC will relate to the use of 
coercive powers and compliance with procedural fairness 
requirements by OVIC’s officers. 

The Government further notes that the Integrity and 
Accountability Legislation Amendment (Public Interest 
Disclosures, Oversight and Independence Bill 2018, if 
passed, will provide further clarification on the role of the 
AOC and the VI regarding oversight of OVIC. Complaints to 
the AOC may relate to other matters including complaints 
about the Commissioner.
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Judicial Commission of Victoria

The Judicial Commission of Victoria sets standards of ethical 
and professional conduct by judicial officers and Victorian 
Civil and Administrative Tribunal (VCAT) members. The 
Judicial Commission handles complaints into those matters 
and refers most matters for investigation to investigation 
panels.

The VI has the statutory function of monitoring the 
exercise of coercive power by the Judicial Commission and 
investigation panels. 

The Director of the Judicial Commission is required to notify 
the VI about the exercise of coercive power and why it has 
been exercised. The VI may request information from the 
Judicial Commission about the use of coercive powers. 

The Judicial Commission may make guidelines about: 
 •  standards of conduct by judicial officers and VCAT 

members; 
 •   supporting investigation panels in the performance of 

their functions;
 •  the making of complaints or referrals; 
 •   the assistance to be provided by the Director and staff 

of the Judicial Commission to any investigating panel 
including the hearing of a matter in public or private;

 •  the use of coercive powers. 

The VI may make recommendations to the Judicial 
Commission about the making of guidelines by the Judicial 
Commission in relation to the use of coercive powers and 
may request the Judicial Commission whether they have 
been implemented and if not, why not. 

The VI may also make a special report about the use of 
coercive power by the Judicial Commission and the panels. 

The VI developed a notification process which has now 
been implemented by the VI and the Judicial Commission. 
That process will facilitate the provision of information from 
the Judicial Commission to the VI when coercive power is 
exercised by the Judicial Commission or an investigation 
panel.

During the 2017–18 reporting period the Director of the 
Judicial Commission did not notify the VI of any exercise of 
coercive power by the Judicial Commission or the panels. 

The Judicial Commission advised the VI that it does not 
intend at this time to make guidelines for the exercise of 
coercive power by the Judicial Commission or the panels. 
The VI will continue to engage with the Judicial Commission 
in relation to the potential benefits guidelines bring to 
transparent and consistent decision making in the exercise 
of coercive power.
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Public Interest Monitor

The VI is required to inspect and audit the records kept 
by the Public interest Monitor (PIM) and to report on the 
outcomes of that inspection to the Special Minister of State 
and both Houses of the Victorian Parliament at least once a 
year. 

During the 2017–18 year VI officers attended the office 
of the PIM to conduct an inspection of the records held. 
The files inspected were only those in relation to which 
an application for a coercive powers order had been 
determined and documents returned by the PIM to the 
applicant as at the date(s) that the VI was conducting its 
inspection. In total 352 files were inspected during one 
inspection period.

The PIM’s own internal audit process had identified and 
corrected certain errors. These were provided prior to the VI 
officers commencing their inspection. VI officers confirmed 
that corrections and amended receipts had been issued 
during the inspection. This demonstrates the effectiveness 
and efficiency of the PIM’s own internal audit processes. 

There has been a noted increase in the activity of the PIM 
and as a result the VI has formally advised the PIM that 
from 2018–19 bi-annual inspections will be conducted at 
6 monthly intervals. This arrangement suits both the VI 
and PIM and demonstrates the cooperative relationship 
between the staff of both agencies.
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Five years financial summary

2017–18 2016–17 2015–16 2014–15 2013–14

$ $ $ $ $

Total income from transactions 3,355,012 3,357,881  2,715,052  2,388,879  2,418,100 

Total expenses from transactions 3,355,012 3,400,329  2,934,925  2,706,030  2,562,735 

Net result from transactions - (42,447)    (219,873)    (317,151)    (144,635)

Other economic flows included in net result 210 6,936       (2,403)       (1,831)        2,141 

Net cashflows from operations 8,253 2,280       14,856        6,881     456,935 

Total assets 2,929,891 2,997,656  2,960,691  3,203,486  3,395,824 

Total liabilities 553,529 621,503     549,028  2,633,939  2,952,921 

CURRENT YEAR FINANCIAL 
SUMMARY 
The VI is funded through 
parliamentary appropriations. It does 
not receive any revenue outside of 
its government allocation. The VI’s 
financial position remains strong. 
Consistent with previous years, the VI 
underspent its budget. It is noted that 
there was an increase in employee 
related expense which was offset by 
a decrease in depreciation. Employee 
expenditure is expected to increase in 
2018–19 as the VI recruits additional 
staff.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN 
FINANCIAL POSITION 
There were no significant matters 
which changed VI’s financial position 
during the reporting period. 

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES 
OR FACTORS AFFECTING 
PERFORMANCE 
There were no significant changes 
or factors which affected VI’s 
performance during the reporting 
period.

CAPITAL PROJECTS
The VI does not manage any capital 
projects.

STRUCTURAL CHANGES TO THE VI 
IN 2017–18 
There were no changes made to the 
output structure of the VI.

DIRECT COSTS ATTRIBUTABLE TO 
MACHINERY OF GOVERNMENT 
CHANGES
There are no direct costs attributable 
to machinery of government changes 
to report.

DISCLOSURE OF GRANTS AND 
TRANSFER PAYMENTS
The VI has not provided any grants 
or transfer payments to companies or 
organisations.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
There are no subsequent events to 
report.
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Inspector, Mr Eamonn Moran PSM QC
The Inspector is responsible for undertaking the strategic 
leadership of the VI. The Inspector is also the public service 
body head of the VI, and has the duties, functions and 
powers delegated by the VI, or conferred by the VI Act or 
any other Act.

Mr Eamonn Moran PSM QC is the current Inspector 
constituting the VI. He was appointed by the Governor-in-
Council for a term of five years expiring on 31 December 
2022. He is an independent officer of the Parliament.

Before his appointment, from July 2012 to December 2017, 
Mr Moran practised as a barrister in Victoria generally in 
administrative and constitutional law but with a particular 
interest in issues of statutory interpretation. During this 
period he also was a Commissioner for four years at the 
Victorian Law Reform Commission, worked as a consultant 
legislative counsel for various governments and government 
entities in Australia and elsewhere and was an instructor 
for the Graduate Diploma in Legislative Drafting offered by 
Athabasca University, Canada.

From January 2008 to June 2012 Mr Moran was Law 
Draftsman in the Department of Justice of Hong Kong and a 
member of the Law Reform Commission of Hong Kong.

Mr Moran also worked as a parliamentary counsel in the 
Office of the Chief Parliamentary Counsel in Victoria for 
many years and was Chief Parliamentary Counsel from 1999 
until 2008. 

In 2005 Mr Moran received the Public Service Medal for 
outstanding public service to legislative drafting and public 
law, and to the promotion of plain legal language.
In 2012 he was awarded by the Hong Kong Government 
a Silver Bauhinia Star for service with the Department 
of Justice and contribution to the development of plain 
language drafting in Hong Kong.

Mr Moran is currently President of Clarity International, an 
international association promoting plain legal language 
and is a past President of the Commonwealth Association of 
Legislative Counsel.

CORPORATE SERVICES
The Corporate Services team functions include:
 •  Finance and budget management, reporting and 

compliance
 •  Human Resources management and reporting
 •  Procurement management and reporting
 •  Information and Records management and support
 •  ICT management
 •  Building and facilities management
 •  Business planning.

VACANT
Director, Legal

Corporate  
Services

Compliance Complaints and 
Investigations

Monitoring and 
Oversight

COMPLIANCE
The compliance team functions include:
 •  Managing all aspects of compliance 
 •  Assessing statutory compliance of bodies permitted to 

use covert investigative powers
 •  Advising on compliance methodologies, protocols and 

practice 
 •  Providing authoritative compliance reports.

Eamonn Moran PSM QC
Inspector

ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE
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AUDIT COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP 
AND ROLES
The VI has an Audit Committee which 
meets at least four times each year 
and reviews not only the VI’s financial 
performance and procedures but also 
risk management generally. 

As at 30 June 2018 the audit 
committee consisted of the following 
members:
 •  David Gibbs, Chairman 

(Independent member) 
 •  David Boymal AO 

(Independent member)

A process was commenced in 2018–19 
to recruit a third member to the Audit 
Committee with a view to having that 
appointment in place for the first audit 
committee meeting of the 2018–19 
financial year. 

The main responsibilities of the audit 
committee are to: 
 •  review and report independently 

to the Inspector on the annual 
report and all other financial 
information published by the VI;

 •  assist the Inspector in reviewing 
the effectiveness of the VI’s 
internal control environment 
covering:

  -  effectiveness and efficiency of 
operations;

  -  reliability of financial reporting; 
and

  -  compliance with applicable laws 
and regulations;

 •  determine the scope of the 
internal audit function and ensure 
its resources are adequate 
and used effectively, including 
coordination with external 
auditors; 

 •  maintain effect communication 
with external auditors;

 •  consider recommendations made 
by internal and external auditors 
and review the implementation of 
actions to resolve issues raised; 
and

 •  oversee the effective operation of 
the risk management framework.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND 
SAFETY
Occupational Health and Safety 
(OH&S) is an important component 
of how the VI conducts operations 
for staff, contractors and all visitors 
to the VI. All employees have access 
to an independent Employee 
Assistance Program (EAP), influenza 
vaccinations, ergonomic assessments 
and other physical and psychological 
wellbeing services. The VI accesses 
significant OH&S support through the 
Department of Premier and Cabinet 
including access to their training and 
policies. 

Consistent with previous years, the 
VI has not had any accidents, or near 
misses in the current reporting period 
and has not had any lost time in 
relation to OH&S injuries. Due to the 
VI not receiving any claims there were 
no associated costs for the year. 

As the VI grows in size the OH&S 
practices will need to be reviewed and 
updated as required to ensure that 
they are adequate for an increased 
staffing body and revised practices.

INCIDENT MANAGEMENT
On 2 May 2018 the VI was required 
to evacuate the building. The 
evacuation event was triggered by 
construction activity on the building. 
No injuries or issues were caused 
through the evacuation and the VI 
held a debriefing after the incident to 
review its policies and procedures to 
ensure a high level of compliance with 
incident management and evacuation 
procedures. 

EMPLOYMENT AND CONDUCT 
PRINCIPLES
The VI is committed to applying merit 
and equity principles when appointing 
staff. The selection processes ensure 
that applicants are assessed and 
evaluated fairly and equitably on 
the basis of the key selection criteria 
and other accountabilities without 
discrimination. Employees have been 
correctly classified in workforce data 
collections.

COMPLAINTS AND INVESTIGATIONS
The complaints and investigations team functions include:
 •  Receiving and responding to enquires from members of 

the public and public sector
 •  Receiving, assessing, and making recommendations in 

relation to complaints received under section 43 of the 
VI Act and protected disclosures complaints   

 •  Conducting own motion or complaint driven 
investigations 

 •  Advising on complaints and investigations policies,  
procedures and relevant legislation

 •  Managing statutory notifications.

MONITORING AND OVERSIGHT
The Monitoring and Oversight team functions include:
 •  Monitoring the compliance of integrity agencies with 

specific functions under their governing legistation
 •  Assessing the effectiveness and appropriateness of 

certain categories of policy and procedures with respect 
to certain agencies

 •  Monitoring the use of coercive powers by integrity 
agencies 

 •  Advising on integrity policy and practice 
 •  Overseeing IBAC’s performance in relation to the PD 

Act. 
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PUBLIC SECTOR VALUES AND 
EMPLOYMENT PRINCIPLES 
The VI is committed to Public Sector 
Values and employment principles. 

The Public Administration Act 2004 
established the Victorian Public 
Sector Commission (VPSC). The 
VPSC’s role is to strengthen public 
sector efficiency, effectiveness and 
capability, and advocate for public 
sector professionalism and integrity. 

The VI’s policies and practices 
are consistent with the VPSC’s 
employment standards and provide 
for fair treatment, career opportunities 
and the early resolution of workplace 
issues. The VI also accesses support 
through the Department of Premier 
and Cabinet including expert advice 
on employment principles and 
processes.

The VI advises its employees on how 
to avoid conflicts of interest and 
respond to offers of gifts and on how 
the VI deals with misconduct. The VI 

also promotes to staff its values and 
the need to uphold them at all times.

WORKFORCE INCLUSION POLICY
The VI is an equal opportunity 
employer and its recruitment 
processes focus on essential skills and 
abilities. The VI welcomes applicants 
from a diverse range of backgrounds, 
including Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander peoples, people from 
culturally and linguistically diverse 
backgrounds and people with 
disabilities.

The VI values its people and is 
committed to attracting, developing 
and retaining diverse talent. It actively 
promotes diversity and inclusion in the 
workplace and does not discriminate 
based on age, sex, carer or parental 
status, disability, race, religious belief, 
sexual orientation, gender identity or 
other characteristics.

The VI values staff with non-binary 
gender identities at all levels from VPS 
officers through to executives. The VI 

JUNE 2018

ONGOING FIXED TERM CASUAL TOTAL

Number FTE Number FTE Number FTE Number

(Headcount) (Headcount) (Headcount) (Headcount)

13 13 1 1 0 0 14

JUNE 2017

ONGOING FIXED TERM CASUAL TOTAL

Number FTE Number FTE Number FTE Number

(Headcount) (Headcount) (Headcount) (Headcount)

11 11 1 1 0 0 12

acknowledges that due to historic and 
current barriers to disclosure of non-
binary gender identities, staff may not 
choose to disclose this information. 
As a result, targets or quotas are not 
currently a useful way to promote 
opportunities for gender diverse staff 
at all levels. The VI accesses advice 
and support from the Department 
of Premier and Cabinet to ensure 
a strong approach to workforce 
inclusion.

COMPARATIVE WORKFORCE DATA
The data provided is actual full time 
equivalent (FTE) data as at 30 June 
2018 for Victorian Public Sector (VPS) 
employees and does not include 
statutory appointments. Employees 
have been correctly classified in 
workforce data collections. 

The VI employed 14 staff (14 FTE) 
compared to 12 staff (12 FTE) on 30 
June 2017.

Table 1: Summary of employment levels in June of 2018 and 2017
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MALE FEMALE SELF-DESCRIBED VACANCIES

2017–18 2016–17 2017–18 2016–17 2017–18 2016–17 NO.

Executive 
Officer 3

0 1 0 0 0 0 0

Total 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

Table 2: Details of employment levels in June of 2018 and 2017

JUNE 2018 JUNE 2017

ONGOING
FIXED TERM 
& CASUAL

ONGOING
FIXED TERM 
& CASUAL

Headcount FTE Headcount FTE Headcount FTE Headcount FTE

Gender

Male 1 1 1 1 3 3 0 0

Female 12 12 0 0 8 8 1 1

Self-described 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Age

Under 25 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

25-34 5 5 0 0 2 2 1 1

35-44 2 2 0 0 3 3 0 0

45-54 3 3 1 1 1 1 0 0

55-64 3 3 0 0 5 5 0 0

Over 64 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Classification

Executive Officer 3 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0

VPS Grade 6 3 3 0 0 2 2 0 0

VPS Grade 5 1 1 1 1 1 1 0 0

VPS Grade 4 8 8 0 0 7 7 1 1

VPS Grade 3 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

EXECUTIVE OFFICER DATA DISCLOSURES
The executive officer data is current as at 30 June 2018. The number of Executives reported is the number 
of Executives at the end of the financial year. Note 8.3 in the Financial Statements provides further details 
regarding executive remuneration. 
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LOCAL JOBS FIRST - VICTORIAN 
INDUSTRY PARTICIPATION POLICY
The Victorian Industry Participation 
Policy Act 2003 requires departments 
and public sector bodies to report on 
the implementation of the Local Jobs 

First - Victorian Industry Participation 
Policy (Local Jobs First – VIPP).

During 2017–18, the VI did not have 
any Local Jobs First - VIPP applicable 
procurement.

GOVERNMENT ADVERTISING 
EXPENDITURE
The VI returned a nil report for 
advertising expenditure in the current 
reporting period. 

CONSULTANT
PURPOSE OF 

CONSULTANCY
START 
DATE

END 
DATE

TOTAL 
APPROVED 

PROJECT FEE 
(EXCL. GST)

EXPENDITURE 
2017 18 (EXCL. 

GST)

FUTURE 
EXPENDITURE 

(EXCL. GST)

Grosvenor 
Consulting

Designing the future 
optimal structure for the VI

12 Apr 
2017

28 Jul 
2017

$18,300 $5,400 $0

Workwell 
Consultants

Strategic Alignment for 
the VI

11 May 
2017

30 Sept 
2017

$22,000 $13,500 $0

CONSULTANT
PURPOSE OF 

CONSULTANCY
START 
DATE

END 
DATE

TOTAL 
APPROVED 

PROJECT FEE 
(EXCL. GST)

EXPENDITURE 
2017 18 (EXCL. 

GST)

FUTURE 
EXPENDITURE 

(EXCL. GST)

Arcord Pty Ltd
Security consultancy 

services
21 Oct 
2016

18 Jul 
2017

$1,119 $1,119 $0

ALL OPERATIONAL 
ICT EXPENDITURE

ICT EXPENDITURE RELATED TO PROJECTS TO CREATE OR ENHANCE ICT CAPABILITIES

Business As Usual 
(BAU)

 ICT expenditure

Non Business As Usual  
(non BAU) ICT expenditure

OPERATIONAL 
EXPENDITURE

CAPITAL  
WEXPENDITURE

(Total)
(Total = Operational expenditure 

and capital expenditure)

29,479 47,106 47,106 0

CONSULTANCY EXPENDITURE DETAILS OF CONSULTANCIES VALUED AT $10,000 OR GREATER 
In 2017–18, there were two consultancies where the total fees payable to the consultants were $10,000 or greater. The total 
expenditure incurred during 2017–18 in relation to these consultancies is $18,900 (excluding GST). Details of individual 
consultancies are outlined below                                                                                                                    

DETAILS OF CONSULTANCIES UNDER $10,000
In 2017–18, there was one consultancy where the total fee payable to the consultant was under $10,000. The total 
expenditure incurred during 2017–18 in relation to this consultancy is $1,119 (excluding GST).                                                                                                               

INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY EXPENDITURE 
For the 2017–18 reporting period, the VI had a total Information and Communication Technology (ICT) expenditure of 
$76,585 with details shown below.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    

ICT expenditure refers to the VI’s costs in providing business enabling ICT services within the current reporting period. It 
comprises Business As Usual (BAU) ICT expenditure and Non-Business As Usual (Non-BAU) ICT expenditure. Non-BAU ICT 
expenditure relates to extending or enhancing the VI’s current ICT capabilities. BAU ICT expenditure is all remaining ICT 
expenditure which primarily relates to ongoing activities to operate and maintain the current ICT capability.
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DISCLOSURE OF MAJOR 
CONTRACTS
The VI did not enter into any major 
contracts in the current reporting 
period. 

COMPLIANCE WITH THE FREEDOM 
OF INFORMATION ACT 1982 
The Freedom of Information Act 1982 
(FOI Act) allows the public a right of 
access to certain documents held by 
the VI. In the period 1 July 2017 to 
30 June 2018 the VI did not receive 
requests for access to documents 
under the FOI Act. 

VI DOCUMENTS
Section 102 of the VI Act exempts 
certain classes of documents in the 
possession of the VI from access 
through the FOI Act. Specifically, the 
FOI Act does not apply to a document 
that is in the possession of a ‘relevant 
person or body’ to the extent to which 
the document discloses information 
that relates to-
 •  a complaint made under the VI 

Act; or
 •  an inspection made under the VI 

Act; or
 •  an investigation conducted under 

the VI Act; or
 •  a recommendation made by the 

VI under the VI Act: or
 •  a report, including a progress 

report, on an investigation 
conducted under the  VI Act.

A relevant person or body for the 
purposes of section 102 of the VI 
Act means the VI and a VI officer, 
the IBAC, the Ombudsman and an 
officer of the Ombudsman, the Chief 
Commissioner of Police, the PIM, the 
Victorian Work Cover Authority, the 
Director of Public Prosecutions, the 
Australian Federal Police, the Chief 
Examiner and any Examiner, an officer 
of the Victorian Auditor-General and 
any other prescribed person.

MAKING A REQUEST
Access to documents may be obtained 
through written request to the VI, as 
detailed in section 17 of the FOI Act. 

In summary, the requirements for 
making a request are:
 •  it should be in writing;
 •  it should identify as clearly as 

possible which document is being 
requested; and

 •  it should be accompanied by 
the appropriate application fee 
(the fee may be waived in certain 
circumstances).

Access charges may also apply once 
documents have been processed 
and a decision on access is made, for 
example photocopying and search 
and retrieval charges. 

Requests for documents in possession 
of the VI should be addressed to:
 
 Victorian Inspectorate
 Freedom of Information
 PO Box 617 Collins Street West
 Melbourne  VIC  8007
 Email: 
 info@vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au

From 1 September 2017, the FOI Act 
has been amended to reduce the FOI 
processing time for requests received 
from 45 to 30 days. In some cases, this 
time may be extended.

If an applicant is not satisfied by a 
decision made by the VI, they have a 
right under section 49A of the FOI Act 
to seek a review by the Office of the 
Victorian Information Commissioner 
(OVIC) within 28 days after the day on 
which they are given written notice of 
the decision.

FURTHER INFORMATION
Further information regarding the 
operation and scope of FOI can be 
obtained from the FOI Act; regulations 
made under the FOI Act; and  
foi.vic.gov.au.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE BUILDING 
ACT 1993
The VI does not own or control 
any government buildings and 
consequently is exempt from notifying 
its compliance with the building and 
maintenance provisions of the Building 
Act 1993.

COMPETITIVE NEUTRALITY POLICY
The VI does not provide services that 
would attract the implementation 
and compliance with Competitive 
Neutrality Policy. As a result, the 
VI has not had to comply with the 
requirements of the Competitive 
Neutrality Policy Victoria and any 
subsequent reforms in the current 
reporting period.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE 
PROTECTED DISCLOSURE ACT 2012
The Protected Disclosure Act 2012 (PD 
Act) establishes a legal framework to 
encourage and assist people to make 
disclosures about improper conduct 
and detrimental action by public 
officers and public bodies. 

Reporting improper conduct and 
detrimental action by public officers 
and public bodies is important 
in maintaining the integrity and 
accountability of the Victorian 
Public Sector as it plays a vital role 
in identifying, investigating and 
preventing corruption and other 
wrongdoings. 

The PD Act provides protection to 
people who make disclosures in 
accordance with the PD Act, and 
establishes systems for the matters 
disclosed to be investigated and any 
rectifying action to be taken.

WHAT IS A DISCLOSURE?
A disclosure, for the purposes of 
the PD Act, is a report, complaint or 
allegation about the:
 •  ‘improper conduct’ by a person, 

public officer or public body; 
 •  ‘detrimental action’ by a public 

officer or public body in reprisal 
for a disclosure.
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WHO CAN A DISCLOSURE BE 
ABOUT
A disclosure can be about:
 •  a public body or a public officer; 
 •  another person whose conduct 

adversely affects the honest 
performance of a public body’s or 
public officer’s official functions, 
or intends to adversely affect their 
effective performance.

A disclosure can be about conduct 
that has already taken place, is 
occurring now, or may happen in the 
future.

WHAT IS A PROTECTED 
DISCLOSURE?
The PD Act provides legal protections 
for people to make disclosures about 
improper conduct and detrimental 
action by public officers and public 
bodies.

These legal protections are provided 
to people who make their disclosure 
in accordance with Part 2 of the 
PD Act and to police officers and 
protective services officers who make 
a complaint about another police 
officer or protective services officer in 
accordance with section 167(3) of the 
Victoria Police Act 2013.

A ‘protected disclosure’ is a disclosure 
that has either been made in 
accordance with Part 2 of the PD Act 
or in accordance with section 167(3) 
of the Victoria Police Act 2013 and 
thereby qualifies to receive the above 
mentioned legal protections which are 
provided for under Part 6 of the PD 
Act. 

OUR ROLE
The VI is responsible for receiving  
disclosures about IBAC and its 
officers and assessing whether those 
disclosures are protected disclosure 
complaints. 

Where the VI determines that a 
disclosure is a protected disclosure 
complaint, the VI will investigate the 
complaint in the same way as the VI 
investigates other complaints under 
section 43 of the VI Act.

The VI may also receive disclosures 
about:
 •  the Chief Examiner or Examiner 

appointed under section 21 of the 
MCIP Act;

 •  an Ombudsman officer;
 •  a VAGO officer;
 •  a Judicial Commission officer 

other than a judicial member 
of the Board of the Judicial 
Commission.

For these disclosures, where the VI 
considers that the disclosure received 
may be a protected disclosure, the VI 
will notify the disclosure to IBAC for 
assessment.

In addition to the above roles, the 
VI also oversees the performance by 
IBAC of its functions under the PD Act 
and reviews the protected disclosure 
procedures of IBAC and other integrity 
and investigatory bodies. 

The VI is committed to ensuring 
transparency and accountability in 
its administrative and management 
practices, and supports the making 
of disclosures that reveal improper 
conduct or detrimental action in 
reprisal for making a disclosure. 

All reasonable steps will be taken by 
the VI to protect people who make 
such disclosures from any detrimental 
action in reprisal for making the 
disclosure. The VI will also afford 
natural justice to the person who is the 
subject of the disclosure to the extent 
it is legally possible.

REPORTING PROCEDURES
If you wish to make a disclosure about 
IBAC or one of its officers, you must 
make your disclosure to the VI.

If you wish to make a disclosure about:
 •  the Chief Examiner or Examiner 

appointed under section 21 of 
the Major Crimes (Investigative 
Powers) Act 2004;

 •  an Ombudsman officer;
 •  a VAGO officer;
 •  a Judicial Commission officer 

other than a judicial member 
of the Board of the Judicial 
Commission;

You may make your disclosure to IBAC 
or the VI.

The contact details for IBAC and the VI 
are listed below.

  1300 735 135
 info@ibac.vic.gov.au
 www.ibac.vic.gov.au

 IBAC 
 GPO Box 24234,
 Melbourne Victoria 3001

  (03) 8614 3232
 info@vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au
 www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au

 Victorian Inspectorate 
 PO Box 617
 Collins Street West,  
 Melbourne Victoria 8007

FURTHER INFORMATION
Information on reporting disclosures 
of improper conduct or detrimental 
action to the VI can be found at  
www.vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au.

DISCLOSURES UNDER THE PD ACT
During the reporting period, 
the VI received two assessable 
disclosures and determined one of 
those disclosures to be a protected 
disclosure complaint. The other 
assessable disclosure was notified to 
IBAC for assessment.

The VI has investigated one protected 
disclosure complaint during the 
reporting period.



COMPLIANCE WITH THE CARERS 
RECOGNITION ACT 2012
To the extent applicable, the VI has 
taken all practical measures to comply 
with its obligations under the Carers 
Recognition Act 2012.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE 
DISABILITY ACT 2006
The VI acknowledges the importance 
of strengthening the rights of people 
with a disability and is committed to 
creating and maintaining an accessible 
and inclusive environment for all 
people with a disability who come 
into contact with the VI, whether as 
employees, stakeholders or members 
of the public more generally. The 
Department of Premier and Cabinet 
developed a comprehensive Disability 
Action Plan 2017–20 which the VI 
has access to through the current 
corporate services arrangements. This 
detailed plan and available support 
assists the VI ensure that the VI’s 
policies and services are accessible 
and responsive to the needs of people 
with a disability.

OFFICE BASED ENVIRONMENT 
IMPACTS
The VI minimises the use of electricity 
and water by using efficient appliance 
and office equipment, including 
energy efficient lighting which 
turns off in unstaffed areas. The VI 
uses 100% recycled copy paper, 
encourages electronic communication, 
double-sided printing and PIN printing 
when necessary in order to reduce the 
paper usage. The VI uses segregated 
waste systems, where all recyclable 
materials are recycled. Bin contents 
are cleared daily and communal 
building waste receptacles are 
utilised for all tenants in the building. 
The VI does not have any assigned 
government vehicles. Staff are 
encouraged to use public transport in 
undertaking business activities.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
AVAILABLE ON REQUEST
In compliance with the Standing 
Directions of the Minister for Finance, 
details in respect of the items below 
have been retained by the VI and are 
available on request, subject to the 
provisions of the FOI Act. 
 •  a statement that declarations of 

pecuniary interests have been 
duly completed by all relevant 
officers;

 •  details of shares held by a 
senior officer as nominee or 
held beneficially in a statutory 
authority or subsidiary; 

 •  details of publications produced 
by the VI about itself, and how 
these can be obtained; 

 •  details of changes in prices, fees, 
charges, rates and levies charged 
by the VI; 

 •  details of any major external 
reviews carried out on the VI;

 •  details of major research 
and development activities 
undertaken by the VI; 

 •  details of overseas visits 
undertaken including a summary 
of the objectives and outcomes of 
each visit;

 •  details of major promotional, 
public relations and marketing 
activities undertaken by the entity 
to develop community awareness 
of the VI and its services; 

 •  details of assessments and 
measures undertaken to improve 
the occupational health and safety 
of employees; 

 •  a general statement on industrial 
relations within the entity and 
details of time lost through 
industrial accidents and disputes; 

 •  a list of major committees 
sponsored by the VI, the purposes 
of each committee and the extent 
to which the purposes have been 
achieved; and

 •  details of all consultancies and 
contractors including:

  -  consultants/contractors 
engaged; 

  -  services provided; and
  -  expenditure committed to for 

each engagement.

Further enquiries should be directed 
to:

Manager, Corporate Services
Victorian Inspectorate
PO Box 617 Collins Street West
Melbourne VIC 8007
Email:  
info@vicinspectorate.vic.gov.au

ATTESTATION FOR FINANCIAL 
MANAGEMENT COMPLIANCE 
WITH MINISTERIAL STANDING 
DIRECTION 5.1.4

VICTORIAN INSPECTORATE 
FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
COMPLIANCE ATTESTATION 
STATEMENT 

I, Eamonn Moran certify that the 
Victorian Inspectorate has complied 
with the applicable Standing 
Directions of the Minister for Finance 
under the Financial Management Act 
1994 and Instructions.

Eamonn Moran PSM QC
Inspector
6 September 2018
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Inspector of the Victorian Inspectorate 

Opinion I have audited the financial report of the Victorian Inspectorate (the Inspectorate) which 
comprises the: 

• balance sheet as at 30 June 2018 
• comprehensive operating statement for the year then ended 
• statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 
• cash flow statement for the year then ended 
• notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies 
• Accountable Officer's and Chief Financial Officer's declaration. 

In my opinion the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Inspectorate as at 30 June 2018 and their financial performance and cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of 
the Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable Australian Accounting Standards.   

Basis for 
Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the 
Australian Auditing Standards. I further describe my responsibilities under that Act and 
those standards in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report section 
of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are 
independent of the Inspectorate in accordance with the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in 
Victoria. My staff and I have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the Code. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. 

Inspector’s 
responsibilities 
for the 
financial 
report 

The Inspector is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report 
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Financial Management Act 
1994, and for such internal control as the Inspector determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation and fair presentation of a financial report that is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the Inspector is responsible for assessing the 
Inspectorate’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is 
inappropriate to do so. 

(VAGO) Independent Auditor’s Report
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2 

Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit 
of the financial 
report 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial 
report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Inspectorate’s internal control. 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Inspector. 

• conclude on the appropriateness of the Inspector’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Inspectorate’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Inspectorate to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

I communicate with the Inspector regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that I identify during my audit. 

 
 
 

  

MELBOURNE 
7 September 2018 

Andrew Greaves 
Auditor-General 

 



44  |  VICTORIAN INSPECTORATE  |  2017 – 18 ANNUAL REPORT

Comprehensive operating statement 
For the financial year ended 30 June 2018 

Continuing operations
Income from transactions

Notes
2018

$ 
2017

$ 

Grants 2.1    3,355,012       3,357,881 

Total income from transactions     3,355,012       3,357,881 

Expenses from transactions   

Employee benefits 3.2.1    2,144,267       1,867,663 

Depreciation 4.2       287,830          717,740 

Interest             841                153 

Other operating expenses 3.3       922,074          814,772 

Total expenses from transactions     3,355,012       3,400,329 

 

Net result from transactions (net operating balance)                   -           (42,447)

 

Other economic flows included in net result   

Net gain/(loss) from the revaluation of leave liabilities             210              6,936 

Total other economic flows included in net result              210              6,936 

 

Net result              210           (35,511)

 

Comprehensive result              210           (35,511)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Balance sheet
As at 30 June 2018 

Assets

Notes
2018

$ 
2017

$ 

Financial assets

Receivables 5.1       2,203,091       1,982,896 

Total financial assets        2,203,091       1,982,896 

Non-financial assets  

Property, plant and equipment 4.1          672,244         960,074 

Prepayments 5.3            54,556           54,685 

Total non-financial assetsw           726,800       1,014,759 

 

Total assets        2,929,891       2,997,656 

Liabilities  

Employee benefits 3.2.2          379,248         453,586 

Payables 5.2          151,169           89,282 

Borrowings 6.1            23,112           31,365 

Deferred lease incentive                   -             47,269 

Total liabilities           553,529         621,503 

 

Net assets        2,376,362       2,376,153 

Equity  

Accumulated deficit         (715,899)        (716,109)

Contributed capital       3,092,261       3,092,261 

Net worth        2,376,362       2,376,153 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Cash flow statement
For the financial year ended 30 June 2018 

Cash flows from operating activities Notes
2018

$ 
2017

$ 

Receipts

Receipts from government        3,134,102        2,602,631 

Goods and services tax recovered from the Australian Taxation Office             92,374  76,647      

Total receipts         3,226,476 2,679,278

Payments  

Payments to suppliers and employees (3,217,382) (2,676,845)

Interest and other cost of finance paid (841) (153)

Total payments  (3,218,223)      (2,676,998)

 

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities 6.2               8,253              2,280 

Cash flows from investing activities  

Proceeds from the disposal of property plant and equipment                      -              5,059 

Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities                       -              5,059 

Cash flows from financing activities  

Repayment of finance leases (8,253)             (7,338)

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities  (8,253)             (7,338)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents                      -                     - 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year                      -                     - 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year                       -                     - 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of changes in equity
For the financial year ended 30 June 2018 

Contributed 
capital

Accumulated 
deficit TOTAL 

$ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2016  3,092,261       (680,598)     2,411,663 

Net result for the year              -           (35,511)        (35,511)

Balance at 30 June 2017  3,092,261       (716,109)     2,376,153 

Net result for the year              -                 210              210 

Balance at 30 June 2018  3,092,261       (715,899)     2,376,362 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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1. ABOUT THIS REPORT

The Victorian Inspectorate (the 
Inspectorate) is a body corporate 
established under Part 8 of the 
Victorian Inspectorate Act 2011 (the 
Act). The Inspectorate’s objectives, 
functions, powers and duties are set 
out in sections 11 and 12 of the Act.  

The principal address of the 
Inspectorate is:

Victorian Inspectorate
Level 8 
565 Bourke Street
Melbourne VIC 3000

A description of the nature of the 
principal services of the Inspectorate 
is included in the “Report of 
Operations” of the Annual Report 
which does not form part of these 
financial statements. 

BASIS OF PREPARATION
These financial statements are 
prepared in Australian dollars and 
the historical cost convention is used 
unless a different measurement basis 
is specifically disclosed in the note 
associated with the item measured on 
a different basis. 

The accrual basis of accounting has 
been applied in the preparation of 
these financial statements whereby 
assets, liabilities, equity, income 
and expenses are recognised in the 
reporting period to which they relate, 
regardless of when cash is received or 
paid.

Consistent with the requirements 
of AASB 1004 Contributions, 
contributions by owners (that is, 
contributed capital and its repayment) 
are treated as equity transactions 
and, therefore, do not form part of 
the income and expenses of the 
Inspectorate.

Judgements, estimates and 
assumptions are required to be made 
about the carrying values of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. The 
estimates and associated assumptions 

are based on professional judgements 
derived from historical experience 
and various other factors that are 
believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.  Actual results may 
differ from these estimates.

Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which 
the estimate is revised and also in 
future periods that are affected by the 
revision. 

These financial statements cover the 
Inspectorate as an individual reporting 
entity and include all the controlled 
activities of the Inspectorate.

COMPLIANCE INFORMATION 
These general purpose financial 
statements have been prepared on 
a going concern basis in accordance 
with the Financial Management 
Act 1994 and applicable Australian 
Accounting Standards (AASs) 
including Interpretations issued by 
the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (AASB). In particular, they are 
presented in a manner consistent 
with the requirements of AASB 
1049 Whole of Government and 
General Government Sector Financial 
Reporting. 

Where appropriate, those AASs 
paragraphs applicable to not-for-
profit entities have been applied. 
Accounting policies selected and 
applied in these financial statements 
ensure that the resulting financial 
information satisfies the concepts 
of relevance and reliability, thereby 
ensuring that the substance of the 
underlying transactions or other 
events is reported.

OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
Significant and other accounting 
policies that summarise the 
measurement basis used and are 
relevant to an understanding of the 
financial statements are provided 
throughout the notes to the financial 
statements.
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2. FUNDING OF OUR SERVICES

INTRODUCTION
The Inspectorate is funded for the 
provision of outputs    consistent with 
its statutory functions. Funds are 

from accrual-based grants derived 
from monies appropriated annually 
by Parliament to the Department of 
Premier and Cabinet

STRUCTURE
2.1 Summary of income that funds the 
delivery of our services

2.1  Summary of income that funds the delivery of our services  

Notes
2018

$ 
2017

$

Grants from the Department of Premier and Cabinet     3,355,012     3,357,881 

Total Grants     3,355,012     3,357,881 

Income from grants (other than contribution by owners) is recognised when the Inspectorate obtains control over the grant. 
Where grants are reciprocal (i.e. equal value is given back by the Inspectorate to the provider), the Inspectorate is deemed to 
have assumed control when it has satisfied its performance obligations under the terms of the grant. Non-reciprocal grants 
are recognised as income when the grant is received or receivable. Conditional grants may be reciprocal or non-reciprocal 
depending on the terms of the grant.
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3. COST OF DELIVERING OUR SERVICES
INTRODUCTION
This section provides an account 
of the expenses incurred by the 
Inspectorate in delivering its services. 

STRUCTURE
3.1  Expenses incurred in the delivery 

of services

3.2 Employee benefits
3.3 Other operating expenses

3.1  Expenses incurred in delivering our services

Notes NOTES 2018
$ 

2017
$

Employee benefit expenses 3.2.1      2,144,267     1,867,663 

Other operating expenses 3.3         922,073       814,772 

Total  expenses incurred in the delivery of services     3,066,340  2,682,436

3.2.1  Employee benefits in the comprehensive operating statement

2018
$ 

2017
$

Salaries and wages, annual leave and long service leave      1,815,187     1,764,670

Defined contribution superannuation expense         118,393       102,994 

Termination & redundancy expenses         210,687                  - 

Total employee benefits      2,144,267     1,867,663 

3.2  Employee benefits

3.2.2  Employee benefits in the balance sheet
Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of annual leave, long service leave and other benefits for 
services rendered to the reporting date.

Employee benefits include all costs related to employment including salaries and wages, superannuation, leave entitlements, 
redundancy payments, fringe benefits tax and WorkCover premiums.

Notes
2018

$ 
2017

$

Current provisions:  

Annual leave         105,101       197,733 

Long service leave         104,637       172,806 

Redundancy provision (i)         133,541                -   

Total current provisions          343,279       370,539 

Non-current provisions  

Long service leave          35,969         83,048 

Total non-current provisions           35,969         83,048 

 

Total employee benefits          379,248       453,586 

Note: (i)  The Inspectorate announced a restructure in June 2018. A provision is made in the financial statements based on 
potential payments arising out of the restructure.    
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CURRENT PROVISIONS: 
The annual leave liability is classified as a current liability 
and measured at the undiscounted amount expected to be 
paid, as the Inspectorate does not have an unconditional 
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 
months after the end of the reporting period. 

Unconditional long service leave is disclosed as a current 
liability; even where the Inspectorate does not expect 
to settle the liability within 12 months because it will not 
have the unconditional right to defer the settlement of 
the entitlement should an employee take leave within 12 
months. 

No provision has been made for sick leave as all sick leave 
is non-vesting and it is not considered probable that the 
average sick leave taken in the future will be greater than 
the benefits accrued in the future. As sick leave is non-
vesting, an expense is recognised in the Comprehensive 
Operating Statement as it is taken. 

Employment on-costs such as payroll tax, workers 
compensation and superannuation are not employee 
benefits. They are disclosed as a component of the 
provision for employee benefits where the employment to 
which they relate has occurred.

NON CURRENT PROVISIONS:
Conditional long service leave is disclosed as a non-
current liability. There is an unconditional right to defer 
the settlement of the entitlement until the employee has 
completed the requisite years of service. This non-current 
LSL is measured at present value.

Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present 
value of non-current LSL liability is recognised as a 
transaction, except to the extent that a gain or loss arises 
due to changes in bond interest rates for which it is then 
recognised as an ‘other economic flow’ in the net result.

3.3  Other operating expenses  

Notes
2018

$ 
2017

$

Operating lease rentals       396,401        369,726 

Occupancy costs       210,479        182,364 

Supplies and services       165,443          92,942 

Purchase of services         99,333          82,308 

Information technology         50,418          87,432 

Total other operating expenses        922,073        814,772 

Other operating expenses represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in delivering the services of the Inspectorate. 
These include:

•  Operating lease rentals including contingent rentals are recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term, except 
where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern of the benefits derived from the use of the 
leased asset.

•  Other operating expenses except for operating lease rentals are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in 
which they are incurred. 
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4. KEY ASSETS AVAILABLE TO 
SUPPORT OUTPUT DELIVERY
INTRODUCTION
The Inspectorate controls property, 
plant and equipment in fulfilling 
its objectives and conducting its 
activities. These assets represent the 
key resources that the Inspectorate 
uses for the delivery of those activities.
 

STRUCTURE
4.1 Property, plant and equipment
4.2 Asset depreciation 
4.3 Reconciliation of  
movement in carrying                                                                                       
amount of property, plant and 
equipment

INITIAL RECOGNITION: 
Items of property, plant and equipment are recognised initially at cost. Where an asset is acquired for no or nominal cost, the 
cost is its fair value at the date of acquisition. 

The cost of leasehold improvements is capitalised as an asset and depreciated over the remaining term of the lease or the 
estimated useful life of the improvements, whichever is the shorter.

The initial cost motor vehicle under a finance lease is measured at amounts equal to the fair value of the leased asset or, if 
lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease. 

SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT: 
Property, plant and equipment is subsequently measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Fair 
value is determined with regard to the asset’s highest and best use (considering legal or physical restrictions imposed on the 
asset, public announcements or commitments made in relation to the intended use of the asset).

IMPAIRMENT: 
Property, plant and equipment, is tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.

4.1 Property, plant and equipment 

                                                                          Gross carrying amount  Accumulated depreciation           Net carrying amount

2018
$

2017 
$

2018
$

2017
$

2018
$

2017
$

Leasehold improvements   3,535,715   3,535,715  (2,890,367)  (2,613,792)      645,348      921,922 

Office and computer equipment       15,519       15,519      (11,635)        (8,531)         3,884         6,988 

Motor vehicle under finance lease              -         40,890              -          (9,727)              -         31,163 

Motor vehicle held for sale       40,890              -        (17,878)              -         23,012              -   

Net carrying amount   3,592,124   3,592,124  (2,919,880)  (2,632,050)      672,244      960,074 



VICTORIAN INSPECTORATE  |  2017 – 18 ANNUAL REPORT  |  53

All leasehold improvements, office and computer equipment and motor vehicles under finance lease that have a finite useful 
life are depreciated over their useful life.

Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight-line basis, at rates that allocate the asset’s value, less any estimated 
residual value, to its useful life. Depreciation begins when the asset is first available for use in the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by the entity. 

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at least annually. Typical estimated useful 
lives applicable for the different asset classes are included in the table below:

4.2  Asset depreciation 
2018

$
2017

$

Leasehold improvements       276,574       707,138 

Office and computer equipment           3,104           3,104 

Motor vehicle under finance lease           8,152           7,498 

Total depreciation       287,830       717,740 

4.3  Reconciliation of movements in carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment

Leasehold 
improvements

$

Office and 
computer 

equipment
$

Leased  
motor 

vehicles
$

Total
$

2018
Carrying amount at the start of the year 921,922 6,988 31,164 960,074 

Depreciation expenses (276,574)      (3,104)      (8,152)     (287,830)

Carrying amount at end of the year 645,348       3,884     23,012      672,244 

2017
Carrying amount at the start of the year       1,629,060     10,091     38,662   1,677,814 

Depreciation expenses (707,138)      (3,104)      (7,498)     (717,740)

Carrying amount at end of the year          921,922       6,988     31,164      960,074 

Useful life of assets

Useful life 
(years)

Leasehold improvements 5-10

Office and computer equipment 2-20

Leased motor vehicles 2-3
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5.1 Receivables

2018
$

2017 
$

Statutory

Amounts owing from Victorian Government     2,199,841 1,978,930

GST Recoverable             3,250 3,966

Total receivables     2,203,091 1,982,896

Represented by:  

Current receivables     2,167,122     1,899,849 

Non-current receivables           35,969          83,048 

5. OTHER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
INTRODUCTION
This section sets out those assets 
and liabilities that arose from the 
Inspectorate’s operations. 

STRUCTURE
5.1 Receivables
5.2 Payables
5.3 Prepayments

STATUTORY RECEIVABLES do not arise from contracts and are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial measurement they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less any impairment and are not classified as financial instruments.

CONTRACTUAL PAYABLES are classified as financial instruments and measured at amortised cost. Creditors and accruals 
represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Inspectorate prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid.

STATUTORY PAYABLES are recognised and measured similarly to contractual payables but are not classified as financial 
instruments and not included in the category of financial liabilities at amortised cost because they do not arise from 
contracts.

Prepayments represent payments in advance for receipt of goods or services or payment for expenditure relating to future periods.

5.2 Payables

2018
$

2017 
$

Contractual

Creditors and accruals 136,730         69,964 

Statutory

Amounts payable to other government agencies    14,439         19,318 

Total payables          151,169         89,282 

Represented by:

Current payables          151,169         89,282 

Non-current payables                      -                     -   

5.3  Prepayments
2018

$
2017 

$

Prepayments        54,556         54,685 

Total prepayments        54,556         54,685 
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6. HOW WE FINANCED OUR OPERATIONS 
INTRODUCTION
This section provides information on 
the sources of finance utilised by the 
Inspectorate during its operations, 
along with other disclosure 
information related to financing 

activities of the Inspectorate.
This section also included 
disclosures on commitments for 
expenditure. 

The Inspectorate has a finance lease liability on a motor vehicle.

Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities of the Inspectorate at amounts equal to the fair value of the lease 
property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease. The 
leased asset is depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the term of the lease. 

Minimum finance lease payments are apportioned between reduction of the lease liability and periodic finance
charges which are calculated using the interest rate implicit in the lease and charged directly to the comprehensive 
operating statement.

Leases are secured borrowings as the right to the leased assets revert to the lessor in the event of default.

STRUCTURE
6.1  Finance lease liabilities (Borrowings)
6.2  Reconciliation of the net result for the 

period to cash flow from operating 
activities

6.3 Commitments for expenditure

6.1  Finance lease liabilities (Borrowings)

2018
$

2017 
$

Secured

Current lease liabilities 23,112   8,444 

Non-current lease liabilities       -      22,921 

Total finance lease liabilities 23,112       31,365 

6.2 Reconciliation of the net result for the period to cash flow from operating activities

2018
$

2017 
$

Net result for the period 210   (35,511)

Non-cash movements  

Depreciation 287,830  717,740 

Movements in assets and liabilities  

(Increase)/decrease in receivables  (220,195)  (756,525)

(Increase)/decrease in other non-financial assets  128  (3,238)

(Decrease)/Increase in payables  61,887   30,905 

(Decrease)/Increase in provisions  (74,338)  111,936 

(Decrease)/Increase in lease incentive  (47,269)  (63,026)

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities  8,253     2,280 
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6.3 Commitments for expenditure
Commitments for future expenditure include operating 
and capital commitments arising from contracts. These 
commitments are recorded below at their nominal value 
and are inclusive of GST. Where it is considered appropriate 

and provides additional relevant information such as, the 
net present values of significant individual projects are 
stated. These future expenditures cease to be disclosed as 
commitments once the related liabilities are recognised on 
the balance sheet.

Notes:
(i)  The Inspectorate has entered into a new five year lease contract for its existing office premises.  The commitments shown 

reflect operating lease commitments (rental and out-goings) payable as at 30 June 2018 for the new lease of the existing 
office premises.

(ii) Operating lease commitments payable as at 30 June 2017 have been adjusted to show the Inspectorate’s previous lease 
expiring on 31 March 2018.

6.3 Commitments for expenditure

Nominal Amounts

Less than 
one year

$
1-5 years

$

Greater than 
5 years

$
Total 

$

2018     

Operating lease commitments payable (i)       593,278    2,367,082 -  2,960,360 

Less GST recoverable        (53,934)     (215,189) -  (269,124)

Total commitments (exclusive of GST)       539,344    2,151,893 - 2,691,236 

2017      

Operating lease commitments payable (ii)       422,286 - -    422,286 

Less GST recoverable        (38,390) - - (38,390)

Total commitments (exclusive of GST)       383,897 - -    383,897 
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7. RISKS, CONTINGENCIES AND 
VALUATION JUDGEMENTS
INTRODUCTION
The Inspectorate is exposed to 
risk from its activities and outside 
factors. In addition, it is often 
necessary to make judgements and 
estimates associated with recognition 
and measurement of items in the 

financial statements. This section 
sets out financial instrument specific 
information (including exposures to 
financial risks) as well as those items 
that are contingent in nature or require 
a higher level of judgement to be 
applied. 

STRUCTURE
7.1  Financial instruments specific 

disclosures
7.2  Contingent assets and contingent 

liabilities

7.1 Financial instruments specific disclosures 
INTRODUCTION
Financial instruments arise out of contractual agreements between entities that give rise to a financial asset of one entity 
and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. Due to the nature of the Inspectorate’s activities, certain 
financial assets and financial liabilities arise under statute rather than a contract. Such financial assets and financial liabilities 
do not meet the definition of financial instruments in AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation. For example, statutory 
receivables do not meet the definition of financial instruments as they do not arise under contract.

CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial instrument liabilities are initially recognised on the date they are originated. They are initially measured at fair value 
plus any directly attributable transaction costs. 

Financial instrument liabilities measured at amortised cost include all of the Inspectorate’s contractual payable. 

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.

7.1.1  Categorisation of financial instruments

2018
$

2017
$

Financial liabilities Note Category  $

Payables 5.2 Financial liabilities at amortised cost      136,730         69,964 

Borrowings 6.1 Financial liabilities at amortised cost         23,112         31,365 

        159,842      101,329 
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7.1.2 Financial risk management objectives and 
policies
As a whole, the Inspectorate’s financial risk management 
program seeks to manage the risks arising from volatility in 
financial instruments.

The Inspectorate’s main financial risks include credit risk, 
liquidity risk and market risk. The Inspectorate manages 
these financial risks in accordance with its financial risk 
management policy.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: CREDIT RISK
Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the 
Inspectorate, which comprise trade and other receivables. 
The Inspectorate’s exposure to credit risk arises from the 
potential default of counterparties on their contractual 
obligations resulting in financial loss to the Inspectorate. 
Credit risk is measured at fair value and is monitored on a 
regular basis.

Credit risk associated with the Inspectorate’s financial 
assets is minimal because the main debtor is the Victorian 
Government. 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT: LIQUIDITY RISK
Liquidity risk arises when the Inspectorate is unable to meet 
its financial obligations as they fall due. The Inspectorate 
operates under the Victorian Government’s fair payments 
policy of settling financial obligations within 30 days and, in 
the event of a dispute, makes payments within 30 days from 
the date of resolution. 

The Inspectorate’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed 
insignificant based on the current assessment of risk. 
Maximum exposure to liquidity risk is the carrying amount 
of financial liabilities. The Inspectorate manages its liquidity 
risk by maintaining an adequate level of uncommitted funds 
that can be used at short notice to meet its short term 
obligations. 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: MARKET RISK
The Inspectorate has no exposure to interest rate, 
foreign currency or other price risks. Interest rates on the 
Inspectorate’s finance lease liabilities are fixed.  
  

7.2 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities 
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not 
recognised in the balance sheet but are disclosed 
separately if they are quantifiable.  Contingent assets and 
contingent liabilities are measured at nominal value.

Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of 
GST.

Contingent liabilities are:

•  possible obligations that arise from past events, whose 
existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or 
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events 
not wholly within the control of the entity, or

•  present obligations that arise from past events but are 
not recognised because:

  - it is not probable that an outflow of resources   
 embodying economic benefits will be required to settle  
 the obligations, or

 - the amount of the obligations cannot be measured with  
  sufficient reliability.

Contingent liabilities are also classified as either quantifiable 
or non-quantifiable.

CONTINGENT ASSETS
There were no contingent assets based on the above 
definitions relating to the Inspectorate at 30 June 2018 (30 
June 2017: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
There were no contingent liabilities based on the above 
definitions relating to the Inspectorate as at 30 June 2018 
(30 June 2017: Nil).
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8.1 Subsequent events
There were no subsequent events that had the potential to significantly affect the ongoing structure and financial activities of 
the Inspectorate.

8.2 Responsible persons
The persons who held the positions of Ministers and Accountable Officers in the Inspectorate were:

Position   Name    Term
Special Minister of State  The Hon. Gavin Jennings MLC  1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018
Accountable Officer  Robin Brett QC   1 July 2017 to 31 December 2017
Accountable Officer  Eamonn Moran PSM QC  1 January 2018 to 30 June 2018

REMUNERATION 
Remuneration received or receivable by the Accountable Officer, in connection with the management of the Inspectorate 
during the reporting period was in the range of $490,000 - $499,999 ($410,000 - $419,999 in  2016-17).
Amounts relating to the Minister is reported in the financial statements of the Department of Parliamentary Services. 

8.3 Remuneration of executives
The number of executive officers, other than Ministers and Accountable Officers, and their total remuneration during 
the reporting period are shown in the table below. Total annualised employee equivalents provide a measure of full time 
equivalent executive officers over the reporting period.
Remuneration comprises employee benefits in all forms of consideration paid, payable or provided by the entity, or on 
behalf of the entity, in exchange for services rendered, and is disclosed in the following categories. 
Short-term employee benefits include amounts such as wages, salaries, annual leave or sick leave that are usually paid or 
payable on a regular basis, as well as non-monetary benefits such as allowances and free or subsidised goods or services. 
Post-employment benefits include employer contributions for members of both defined benefit and defined contribution 
superannuation plans. 
Other long-term benefits include long service leave, other long-service benefits or deferred compensation. 
Termination benefits include termination of employment payments, such as severance packages. 

8. OTHER DISCLOSURES 
INTRODUCTION
This section includes additional 
material disclosures required by 
accounting standards or otherwise 
for the understanding of this financial 
report.

STRUCTURE
8.1 Subsequent events
8.2 Responsible persons
8.3 Remuneration of executives
8.4 Related parties
8.5 Remuneration of auditors
8.6  Australian Accounting Standards 

issued that are not yet effective

Remuneration of executive officers

2018
$

2017
$

Short-term employee benefits   191,092  210,204 

Post-employment benefits  25,589  35,110 

Other long-term benefits   1,974    7,120 

Termination benefits   77,146        - 

Total remuneration   295,801  252,434 

Total number of executives         1          1 

Total annualised employee equivalents (i)          1             1 

Notes: (i) Annualised employee equivalent is based on paid working hours of 38 
ordinary hours per week over the 52 weeks for the reporting period.
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8.4 Related parties
The Inspectorate is a wholly owned and controlled entity 
of the State of Victoria. Related parties of the  Inspectorate 
include:  
•  all key management personnel and their close family 

members;
• all cabinet Ministers and their close family members; and
•  all departments and public sector entities that are 

controlled and consolidated into the whole of State 
consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS WITH GOVERNMENT-
RELATED ENTITIES
The Inspectorate received grants from the Department of 
Premier and Cabinet of $3.4 million (2017: $3.4 million). 

The Key Management Personnel (KMP) of The Victorian 
Inspectorate include the Special Minister for State The Hon. 
Gavin Jennings MLC and the Accountable Officer Robin 
Brett QC and Eamonn Moran PSM QC. The compensation 
detailed below excludes the salaries and benefits that the 
Portfolio Minister receives. The Minister’s remuneration 
and allowances are set by the Parliamentary Salaries and 
Superannuation Act 1968 and is reported in the financial 
report of Department of Parliamentary Services.

Compensation of KMPs
2018

$
2017

$

Short-term employee benefits 405,251 429,869

Other long-term benefits 14,765 15,931

Total 420,016 445,800

TRANSACTIONS WITH KMPS AND OTHER RELATED PARTIES
Given the breadth and depth of State government activities, related parties transact with the Victorian public sector in a 
manner consistent with other members of the public. Further employment of processes within the Victorian public sector 
occur on terms and conditions consistent with the Public Administration Act 2004 and Codes of Conduct and Standards 
issued by the Victorian Public Sector Commission. Procurement processes occur on terms and conditions consistent with the 
Victorian Government Procurement Board requirements. 

Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the Inspectorate, there were no related party transactions that involved 
KMPs and their close family members. No provision has been required, nor any expense recognised, for impairment of 
receivables from related parties.

8.5  Remuneration of auditors

2018
$

2017
$

Audit fees paid or payable to the Victorian Auditor-General's Office

Audit of the Annual Financial Statements  15,800   15,400 

Total  15,800   15,400 

No other services were provided by the Victorian Auditor-General’s Office.
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8.6 Australian Accounting Standards issued that are not yet effective
The following Australian Accounting Standards (AASs) become effective for reporting periods commencing after 30 June 
2018. These AASs have been published, but are not mandatory for the 30 June 2018 reporting period. 

Standard/
Interpretation 1 Summary

Applicable for 
annual reporting 
periods  
beginning on

Impact on public sector entity 
financial statements

AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments

The key changes include the 
simplified requirements for the 
classification and measurement 
of financial assets, a new hedge 
accounting model and a revised 
impairment loss model to recognise 
expected impairment losses earlier, 
as opposed to the current approach 
that recognises impairment only 
when incurred.

1 Jan 2018

The assessment has identified 
that the amendments are likely 
to result in earlier recognition of 
impairment losses and at more 
regular intervals. 

The initial application of AASB 9 
is not expected to significantly 
impact the financial positon 
however there will be a change 
to the way financial instruments 
are classified and new disclosure 
requirements.

AASB 2014-1 
Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards [Part 
E Financial 
Instruments]

Amends various AASs to reflect 
the AASB’s decision to defer the 
mandatory application date of 
AASB 9 to annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 
2018, and to amend reduced 
disclosure requirements.

1 Jan 2018

This amending standard will defer 
the application period of AASB 9 
to the 2018–19 reporting period 
in accordance with the transition 
requirements.

AASB 2014-7 
Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards arising 
from AASB 9

Amends various AASs to incorporate 
the consequential amendments 
arising from the issuance of AASB 9.

1 Jan 2018
The assessment has indicated that 
there will be no significant impact 
for the public sector.

AASB 15 
Revenue from 
Contracts with 
Customers

The core principle of AASB 15 
requires an entity to recognise 
revenue when the entity satisfies 
a performance obligation by 
transferring a promised good or 
service to a customer. Note that 
amending standard AASB 2015 
8 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Effective 
Date of AASB 15 has deferred the 
effective date of AASB 15 to annual 
reporting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2018, instead of 1 
January 2017.

1 Jan 2018

The changes in revenue 
recognition requirements in 
AASB 15 may result in changes 
to the timing and amount of 
revenue recorded in the financial 
statements. The Standard will 
also require additional disclosures 
on service revenue and contract 
modifications.
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Standard/
Interpretation 1 Summary

Applicable for 
annual reporting 
periods  
beginning on

Impact on public sector 
entity financial statements

AASB 2014-5 
Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards arising 
from AASB 15

Amends the measurement of trade 
receivables and the recognition of 
dividends as follows:
•  Trade receivables that do not have a 

significant financing component, are to 
be measured at their transaction price, 
at initial recognition. 

•  Dividends are recognised in the profit 
and loss only when:

     o  the entity’s right to receive payment 
of the dividend is established; 

     o  it is probable that the economic 
benefits associated with the dividend 
will flow to the entity; and 

     o  the amount can be measured reliably.

1 Jan 2018, except 
amendments 
to AASB 9 (Dec 
2009) and AASB 9 
(Dec 2010) apply 
from 1 Jan 2018

The assessment has 
indicated that there will be 
no significant impact for the 
public sector.

AASB 2015-8 
Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards – 
Effective Date of 
AASB 15

This Standard defers the mandatory 
effective date of AASB 15 from 1 January 
2017 to 1 January 2018.

1 Jan 2018

This amending standard 
will defer the application 
period of AASB 15 for 
for-profit entities to the 
2018–19 reporting period 
in accordance with the 
transition requirements.

AASB 2016-3 
Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards – 
Clarifications to 
AASB 15

This Standard amends AASB 15 to 
clarify the requirements on identifying 
performance obligations, principal versus 
agent considerations and the timing of 
recognising revenue from granting a 
licence. The amendments require:
•  A promise to transfer to a customer a 

good or service that is ‘distinct’ to be 
recognised as a separate performance 
obligation; 

•  For items purchased online, the entity 
is a principal if it obtains control of the 
good or service prior to transferring to 
the customer; and 

For licences identified as being distinct 
from other goods or services in a contract, 
entities need to determine whether the 
licence transfers to the customer over time 
(right to use) or at a point in time (right to 
access).

1 Jan 2018

The assessment has 
indicated that there will be 
no significant impact for the 
public sector, other than the 
impact identified for AASB 
15 above.
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Standard/
Interpretation 1 Summary

Applicable for 
annual reporting 
periods  
beginning on

Impact on public sector entity financial 
statements

AASB 2016-7 
Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards – 
Deferral of AASB 
15 for Not-for-
Profit Entities

This Standard defers 
the mandatory effective 
date of AASB 15 for not-
for-profit entities from 1 
January 2018 to 1 January 
2019.

1 Jan 2019

This amending standard will defer the 
application period of AASB 15 for not-for-
profit entities to the 2019-20 reporting 
period.

AASB 2016-8 
Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards 
– Australian 
Implementation 
Guidance for 
Not-for-Profit 
Entities

AASB 2016-8 inserts 
Australian requirements 
and authoritative 
implementation guidance 
for not-for-profit-entities 
into AASB 9 and AASB 15. 
This Standard amends 
AASB 9 and AASB 15 to 
include requirements to 
assist not-for-profit entities 
in applying the respective 
standards to particular 
transactions and events.

1 Jan 2019

This standard clarifies the application of 
AASB 15 and AASB 9 in a not-for-profit 
context. The areas within these standards 
that are amended for not-for-profit 
application include:
AASB 9 
•  Statutory receivables are recognised and 

measured similarly to financial assets 
AASB 15
• The “customer” does not need to be the 

recipient of goods and/or services;
• The “contract” could include an 

arrangement entered into under the 
direction of another party;

• Contracts are enforceable if they are 
enforceable by legal or “equivalent 
means”;

• Contracts do not have to have 
commercial substance, only economic 
substance; and

• Performance obligations need to be 
“sufficiently specific” to be able to apply 
AASB 15 to these transactions.

AASB 16 Leases

The key changes 
introduced by AASB 16 
include the recognition of 
operating leases (which are 
currently not recognised) 
on balance sheet.

1 Jan 2019

The assessment has indicated that most 
operating leases, with the exception of short 
term and low value leases will come on to 
the balance sheet and will be recognised 
as right of use assets with a corresponding 
lease liability. 
In the operating statement, the operating 
lease expense
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Standard/
Interpretation 1 Summary

Applicable for 
annual reporting 
periods  
beginning on

Impact on public sector entity financial 
statements

will be replaced by depreciation expense of 
the asset and an interest charge.

There will be no change for lessors as the 
classification of operating and finance leases 
remains unchanged.

AASB 1058 
Income of Not-
for-Profit Entities

AASB 1058 standard will 
replace the majority of 
income recognition in 
relation to government 
grants and other types of 
contributions requirements 
relating to public sector 
not-for-profit entities, 
previously in AASB 1004 
Contributions. 
The restructure of 
administrative arrangement 
will remain under AASB 
1004 and will be restricted 
to government entities and 
contributions by owners in 
a public sector context,
AASB 1058 establishes 
principles for transactions 
that are not within the 
scope of AASB 15, 
where the consideration 
to acquire an asset is 
significantly less than fair 
value to enable not-for-
profit entities to further 
their objective.

1 Jan 2019

The current revenue recognition for grants is 
to recognise revenue up front upon receipt of 
the funds.
This may change under AASB 1058, as capital 
grants for the construction of assets will need 
to be deferred. Income will be recognised 
over time, upon completion and satisfaction 
of performance obligations for assets being 
constructed, or income will be recognised at a 
point in time for acquisition of assets.

The revenue recognition for operating grants 
will need to be analysed to establish whether 
the requirements under other applicable 
standards need to be considered for 
recognition of liabilities (which will have the 
effect of deferring the income associated with 
these grants). Only after that analysis would it 
be possible to conclude whether there are any 
changes to operating grants.

The impact on current revenue recognition 
of the changes is the phasing and timing 
of revenue recorded in the profit and loss 
statement.

In addition to the new standards and amendments above, the AASB has issued a list of other amending standards 
that are not effective for the 2017-18 reporting period (as listed below). In general, these amending standards include 
editorial and references changes that are expected to have insignificant impacts on public sector reporting. 

•  AASB 2016-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification and Measurements of Share-based 
Payment Transactions

• AASB 2017-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation
• AASB 2018-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements 2015 – 2017 Cycle
• AASB 2018-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Plan Amendments, Curtailment or Settlement

Note:
1.   For the current year, given the number of consequential amendments to AASB 9 Financial Instruments AASB 15 

Revenue from Contracts with Customers, and AASB 16 Leases the standards/interpretations have been grouped 
together to provide a more relevant view of the upcoming changes.
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Disclosure index

The annual report of the VI is prepared in accordance with all relevant Victorian legislations and pronouncements. 
This index has been prepared to facilitate identification of the VI’s compliance with statutory disclosure requirements.

LEGISLATION REQUIREMENT PAGE

MINISTERIAL DIRECTIONS & FINANCIAL REPORTING DIRECTIONS

REPORT OF OPERATIONS

Charter and purpose

FRD 22H Manner of establishment and the relevant Ministers 8

FRD 22H Purpose, functions, powers and duties 8-10

FRD 8D Departmental objectives, indicators and outputs N/A

FRD 22H Key initiatives and projects 5;11

FRD 22H Nature and range of services provided 9-10

Management and structure

FRD 22H Organisational structure 32

Financial and other information

FRD 8D Performance against output performance measures N/A

FRD 8D Budget portfolio outcomes N/A

FRD 10A Disclosure index 65-66

FRD 12B Disclosure of major contracts 37

FRD 15E Executive officer disclosures 35

FRD 22H Employment and conduct principles 33

FRD 22H Occupational health and safety policy 33

FRD 22H Summary of the financial results for the year 31

FRD 22H Significant changes in financial position during the year 31

FRD 22H Major changes or factors affecting performance 31

FRD 22H Subsequent events 31

FRD 22H Application and operation of Freedom of Information Act 1982 37

FRD 22H Compliance with building and maintenance provisions of Building Act 1993 37

FRD 22H Statement on Competitive Neutrality Policy 37

FRD 22H Application and operation of the Protected Disclosure 2012 37-38

FRD 22H Application and operation of the Carers Recognition Act 2012 39

FRD 22H Details of consultancies over $10 000 36

FRD 22H Details of consultancies under $10 000 36

FRD 22H Disclosure of government advertising expenditure 36

FRD 22H Disclosure of ICT expenditure 36

FRD 22H Statement of availability of other information 39

FRD 24D Reporting of office based environmental impacts 39
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LEGISLATION REQUIREMENT PAGE

FRD 25C Victorian Industry Participation Policy disclosures 36

FRD 29C Workforce Data disclosures 34-35

SD 5.2 Specific requirements under Standing Direction 5.2 3-39; 65-66

Compliance attestantion and declaration

SD 5.1.4 Attestation for compliance with Ministerial Standing Direction 39

SD 5.2.3 Declaration in report of operations 4

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Declaration

SD 5.2.2 Declaration in financial statements 41

Other requirements under Standing Directions 5.2

SD 5.2.1(a) Compliance with Australian accounting standards and other authoritative pronouncements              48

SD 5.2.1(a) Compliance with Ministerial Directions 41

SD 5.2.1(b) Compliance with Model Financial Report 40-64

Other disclosures as required by FRDs in notes to the financial statements*

FRD 9B Departmental Disclosure of Administered Assets and Liabilities by Activity 54

FRD 11A Disclosure of Ex gratia Expenses N/A

FRD 13 Disclosure of Parliamentary Appropriations 49

FRD 21C
Disclosures of Responsible Persons, Executive Officers and other Personnel  
(Contractors with Significant Management Responsibilities) in the Financial Report

FRD 103G Non Financial Physical Assets 52

FRD 110A Cash Flow Statements 46

FRD 112D Defined Benefit Superannuation Obligations 50

*Note: References to FRDs have been removed from the Disclosure Index if the specific FRDs  
do not contain requirements that are of the nature of disclosure

Legislation

Freedom of Information Act 1982

Building Act 1993

Protected Disclosure Act 2012

Major Crime (Investigative Powers) Act 2004

Carers Recognition Act 2012

Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003

Financial Management Act 1994

Victorian Inspectorate Act 2011
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37

37

26

39

36

48-64

12-30
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AOC Accountability and Oversight Committee of the Parliament

AUDIT ACT Audit Act 1994

CCO ACT Crimes (Controlled Operations ) Act 2004

CPO Coercive powers order

DELWP Department of Environment , Land, Water, and Planning

EAP Employee Assistance Program

FOI ACT Freedom of Information Act 1982 (Vic)

FISHERIES ACT Fisheries Act 1995

FTE Full time equivalent

GMA Game Management Authority

IBAC Independent Broad-based Anti-Corruption Commission

IBAC ACT Independent Broad-based Anti-Corruption Commission Act 2011

IBAC COMMITTEE Independent Broad-based Anti-Corruption Commission Committee of the Parliament

ICT Information and Communication Technology 

MCIP ACT Major Crime (Investigative Powers) Act 2004

MCIP REGULATIONS Major Crime (Investigative Powers) Regulations 2015

OCE Office of Chief Examiner

OH&S Occupational Health & Safety

OMBUDSMAN ACT Ombudsman Act 1973

OVIC Office of the Victorian Information Commissioner

PAEC Public Accounts and Estimates Committee of the Parliament

PD ACT Protected Disclosure Act 2012

PDP ACT Privacy and Data Protection Act 2014

PIM Public Interest Monitors

PIM ACT Public Interest Monitor Act 2011

SD ACT Surveillance Devices Act 1999

TIA ACT Telecommunications (Interception and Access) Act 1979

TISP ACT Telecommunications (Interception) (State Provisions) Act 1988

VAGO Victorian Auditor-General’s Office

VCAT Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal

VFA Victorian Fisheries Authority

VGSO Victorian Government Solicitor’s Office

VI Victorian Inspectorate

VI ACT Victorian Inspectorate Act 2011

VIPP Victorian Industry Participation Policy 

VO Victorian Ombudsman

VPS Victorian Public Sector

VPSC Victorian Public Sector Commission

WILDLIFE ACT Wildlife Act 1975

Glossary
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